Fostering Student Inquisitiveness in Secondary Science Classrooms

Isabella M. Boutros

Department of Integrated Studies in Education

Faculty of Education

McGill University, Montreal

June, 2020

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Masters of Arts in Education

© Isabella Boutros, 2020

Table of Contents

Abstract	4
Chapter 1: Introduction	7
Researcher's Background	8
Inquiry-Based Instruction	10
Purpose of the Study	11
Research Questions	12
Plan of the Thesis	12
Chapter 2: Literature Review	14
Factors Influencing Teaching Style	14
Curriculum	15
Preparation for the next level of education.	15
Preparation for standardized exams	16
Student Inquisitiveness	18
Benefits of student inquisitiveness.	20
Challenges to developing student inquisitiveness.	21
Teacher's Role in Developing Student Inquisitiveness	23
Teacher strategies to develop student inquisitiveness.	23
Chapter 3: Methodology	34
Research Context	34
The Ocean School	34
Québec education system.	35
Participants	36
Data Collection	37
Data Analysis	39
Ethical Considerations	40
Chapter 4: Findings	41
The Case of Lilian	41
Factors influencing Lilian's teaching practice.	43
Strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness	46
Summary of the case of Lilian	52
The Case of Roger	53
Factors influencing Roger's teaching practice.	57
Strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness	59

Summary of the case of Roger	65
The Case of Noah	66
Factors influencing Noah's teaching practice	69
Strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness	72
Summary of the case of Noah	81
Chapter 5: Discussion	83
Discussion of Each Research Question	83
Question 1: What factors influence how these teachers teach and in what ways?	83
Summary of Question 1	88
Question 2: What teaching strategies do these teachers use to encourage student inquisitiveness and why do they use these strategies?	88
Summary of Question 2.	97
Major Findings	99
Limitations and Areas for Further Study	101
References	106
Appendix A: Observation Tool	114

Abstract

Students' interest, achievement, and motivation in science declines as they reach secondary school. This in turn leads to fewer students pursuing further education and subsequently, careers, in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) fields. Given the importance of STEM in a thriving society, it is of value to address how to increase students' interest, achievement and motivation in science. Increasing student inquisitiveness in science class is one way to do so. To explore how teachers encourage student inquisitiveness in their science classes, I conducted classroom observations and semi-structured interviews with three secondary science teachers at an independent school. Findings indicate that the participants were affected by barriers such as: following a mandated curriculum, preparing students for the next level of education, and preparing students for standardized exams. Yet, teachers used a variety of strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness including: making the learning interesting, modeling question asking, encouraging students to ask questions, and giving students autonomy. Findings from this study provide insights to teachers, not only of science, looking to for ways to encourage their students to be inquisitive, even when facing barriers that may limit their teaching practice.

Keywords: STEM, student inquisitiveness, teaching practice

Résumé

L'intérêt, les résultats et la motivation des élèves pour les sciences diminuent à mesure qu'ils atteignent l'école secondaire. Il en résulte une diminution du nombre d'étudiants qui poursuivent leurs études et, par la suite, leur carrière dans les domaines des sciences, de la technologie, de l'ingénierie et des mathématiques (STIM). Étant donné l'importance des STIM dans une société prospère, il est utile de se pencher sur la manière d'accroître l'intérêt, les résultats et la motivation des étudiants dans le domaine des sciences. L'un des moyens d'y parvenir est d'accroître la curiosité des élèves dans les cours de sciences. Afin d'étudier comment les enseignants encouragent la curiosité des élèves dans leurs cours de sciences, j'ai effectué des observations en classe et des entretiens semi-dirigé avec trois professeurs de sciences du secondaire dans une école privée. Les résultats indiquent que les participants étaient confrontés à des obstacles tels que: suivre un programme d'études obligatoire, préparer les élèves au niveau d'enseignement suivant et préparer les élèves à des examens standardisés. Pourtant, les enseignants ont utilisé diverses stratégies pour encourager la curiosité des élèves, notamment: rendre l'apprentissage intéressant, modeler la façon de poser des questions, encourager les élèves à poser des questions et donner de l'autonomie aux élèves. Les conclusions de cette étude fournissent des indications aux enseignants dans tous les domaines educatifs, qui cherchent des moyens d'encourager leurs élèves à être curieux, même lorsqu'ils sont confrontés à des obstacles qui peuvent limiter leur pratique de l'enseignement.

Mots-clés: STIM, curiosité des étudiants, pratique de l'enseignement

Acknowledgements

This thesis could not have been completed without the support of so many different individuals. Firstly, I would like to thank the three teachers who participated in my study. Your classes were a true joy to watch and I am deeply grateful for the precious time you gave to me. I learned so much while watching you teach and I cannot wait to embody what I saw and learned in my own classroom. I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Limin Jao, for her encouragement and support throughout this entire process. I am truly appreciative of your guidance. I would also like to thank my thesis examiner, Dr. Carol Rees. Your supportive and insightful comments helped me consider new ideas that I had not yet thought about while writing my thesis. I am extremely thankful for the support from my parents, Danielle and George, and my siblings, Fouad and Ali. You all mean the world to me and I could not have done this without your love and encouragement every step of the way. Erin, Jess, Allie and Aya, thank you for being my biggest cheerleaders and support from afar. Kelly, Emily and Lynda, thank you for your advice, for helping me through roadblocks, and for bringing laughter into this daunting experience. We're in this together! Finally, Lony, Raph, Rita, Joud, and Dina, thank you for being my family support unit in Montreal. I feel so lucky to have you and so many others in my life.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Students' interest and achievement in, as well as their attitudes towards, science begins to decline in middle and secondary school (George, 2006; Hampden-Thompson & Bennett, 2011; Hassan, 2008; Jocz et al., 2014; Kim, 2016). For example, George (2006) did a study that examined a sample of 444 students' attitudes towards science and attitudes towards the utility of science throughout the middle and secondary school years and found that attitudes towards science are positively correlated with students' attitudes about the utility of science. The data show that while students in Grade 7 have higher attitudes towards science, by Grade 11, these attitudes have decreased which is correlated with a decrease in students' views of the utility of science.

While these trends are concerning for students' academic success, they have larger implications on society. The number of people opting out of science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) education, is increasing (Hampden-Thompson & Bennett, 2011; Hassan, 2008; Jocz et al., 2014). Canada, Australia, the United States, and Europe have identified this decrease in people prepared to participate in STEM careers a national concern as only skilled workers, educated in these areas, can pursue these fields (Hampden-Thompson & Bennett, 2011). According to the U.S. Department of Commerce, "STEM occupations are growing at 17% while other occupations are growing at 9.8%" (Engineering for Kids, 2016, para.1). Additionally, STEM workers are crucial to helping societies prepare for the future. Their innovation "leads to new products and processes that sustain economies" (Engineering for Kids, 2016, para.2). This decrease in people qualified for STEM careers poses an economic threat to countries such as Canada and the United States (Anderson, 2011). Therefore, it is crucial to

address how to increase student interest and achievement in science, as it is necessary to have a population equipped to participate in the STEM workforce.

Researcher's Background

"You can teach a student a lesson for a day; but if you can teach him to learn by creating curiosity he will continue the learning process as long as he lives."—Clay Bedford

I have always had a passion for learning science. Growing up in California, and in a family where being outdoors was central to our livelihood, I was always curious about the things I saw outside. I was curious about the tides, why sometimes the beach was so flooded that we could not walk on it, while at other times, it seemed as if we could walk into the middle of the ocean. I was curious about the landforms, especially the sea cliffs, present along the Northern California coastline and why that solid rock was supposed to keep us "safer" if a large earthquake hit. I wanted to know why it hailed, even if the temperature outside was above freezing. The list could go on. It was this curiosity and excitement about nature that made me excited for my science classes, especially in middle school and high school. My teachers in middle school continued to fuel this curiosity and excitement for science. What I did not understand though, was why upon reaching Grades 11 and 12, many of my friends chose not to take any science classes, while I chose to take two science classes instead of the required one, each year. My friends expressed the feelings that science was "too hard," that it was "too much memorization" and that the thought of taking AP¹ Physics or Chemistry was scary. My passion, however, was still strong, as I formed a meaningful connection with my AP Chemistry teacher who worked hard to bring her love of the ocean into our chemistry lessons and with my

¹ Advanced Placement (AP) courses are college level courses offered in United States secondary schools for college credits.

advanced environmental science teacher who made sure to bring us outside to interact with nature whenever possible. This excitement and passion for science turned into a strong desire to teach science upon graduating from Boston College.

I was lucky to get my first teaching job, where I taught Grade 6 science, at a small private school serving Grades 6-12 in Washington, D.C. In my first year, I was tasked with redesigning the Grade 6 science curriculum. As a first-year teacher, with only student teaching experiences to support this curriculum design, I was intimidated and overwhelmed, but began an extensive research process to figure out what students should be learning in the 6th grade. It was through this research and reflections on my own science education, that I decided the curriculum should be as hands-on and relatable as possible. This research is what led me to come to know about teaching science through inquiry. I continuously saw mention of the words "inquiry," "teaching through inquiry," and "inquiry-based instruction." While it was praised, I could not find any concrete examples to help me incorporate this pedagogy into my own curriculum. As it was my first year of teaching, I decided that the idea of inquiry would be something that I would wait to approach in my second year, when I had more solid grounding.

Fast forward to my second year of teaching, I remembered that I wanted to improve my curriculum and had also learned about my school's mission to use more "creative teaching" in our end of summer faculty meetings. That is when I realized that my mission to use more creative teaching could be through inquiry. Again, I began my research process, trying to figure out how other teachers were using inquiry, but I had trouble finding specific instances of teachers incorporating inquiry in their curricula. When I approached my Department Chair for help, she simply told me that it sounded like a good idea, but that her expertise was in Grades 11 and 12 and that she did not have the resources to help me. Throughout the entire year I researched and

attempted to change my curriculum, but ended up frustrated as I felt I did not have the time, resources, nor appropriate information to incorporate inquiry into my curriculum. This frustration and desire to know more about implementing inquiry-based instruction is what led me to McGill University and the focus of this thesis. I am determined to learn more about this important pedagogy so that I can incorporate it into my teaching when I graduate.

Inquiry-Based Instruction

Inquiry-based instruction is a form of authentic learning that allows students to develop into critical thinkers, ready to apply their knowledge to a problem in order to arrive at an answer or a solution (Barron & Darling-Hammond, 2008). Inquiry-based instruction is a student-centered teaching method, born out of constructivist learning theory, that puts students' ideas, questions, and observations at the forefront of the learning process (Fitzgerald et al., 2017; Minner et al., 2009; Ontario Ministry of Education, 2013; Tuan et al., 2005). Throughout the process of inquiry-based instruction, students are engaged, collaborate with one another, and develop a final product to demonstrate their thinking and learning process (Barron & Darling-Hammond, 2008). Inquiry-based instruction includes the following attributes:

Learners are engaged by scientifically oriented questions; learners give priority to evidence which allows them to develop and evaluate explanations that address scientifically oriented questions; learners formulate explanations from evidence to address scientifically oriented questions; learners evaluate their explanations in light of other explanations, particularly those reflecting scientific understanding; [and] learners communicate and justify their proposed explanations. (NRC, 2012, p. 249)

Research indicates that hallmarks of inquiry-based instruction, including hands-on activities, interactions between teacher and students, and applications of science, as well as group work and

making connections to everyday life, are beneficial to students (Aktamis et al., 2016; Fitzgerald et al., 2017; Hampden-Thompson & Bennett, 2013; Jocz et al., 2014; Minner et al., 2009; Tuan et al., 2005). Therefore, inquiry-based instruction is central to learning science and increasing student interest in science as students become engaged in the work of science.

Purpose of the Study

As a relatively new science teacher, I am passionate about learning more about inquiry-based instruction in order to eventually implement it into my own classroom. I am determined to learn methods that spark curiosity, questions, engagement, and excitement in students. I want to be part of the solution that goes against the trend of students losing interest, engagement and motivation in science (George, 2006; Hampden-Thompson & Bennett, 2011; Hassan, 2008; Jocz et al., 2014; Kim, 2016) and I am determined to create a classroom where my students are fully *involved* in their learning. I am eager to learn the teaching skills necessary to set up a classroom where students ask and answer their own questions. In doing so, I hope to foster curiosity and increased learning in my students. Ultimately, I want to learn more about inquiry-based instruction in order to engage my future students in science, to prevent them from believing that science is simply rote memorization of facts, and to relate science to every student's life and help them realize that, they are indeed, interacting with it every single day of their lives.

In this study, I focus on three science teachers who use inquiry-based instruction to varying degrees. I also consider the factors that influence the ways in which they teach their classes. While inquiry-based instruction encompasses different aspects and teacher moves, my study focuses on one specific component of the teacher's role in inquiry-based instruction: encouraging student inquisitiveness. My research sheds light on the specific moves teachers make to encourage inquisitiveness in their classrooms while also considering how internal and

external factors may be influencing what it is that they are doing and saying in the classroom. Student inquisitiveness is one of the most important parts of learning and of scientific inquiry, as it is a key process towards meaningful and active learning. As such, it should be the focus point of inquiry-based instruction (Chin & Osborne, 2008). Therefore, the purpose of this study is to determine how teachers are encouraging their students to be inquisitive in the classroom. It is important to keep students interested, curious and engaged in science while helping them to develop their ability to ask questions that lead to scientific investigations. Students asking questions in science class is a large component of developing their scientific literacy; therefore, teachers must be giving their students ample guidance and opportunities to ask these scientific questions (Hofstein et al., 2005).

Research Questions

In this study, I will explore how teachers support their students in being more inquisitive in science class, as a way to lead them towards using inquiry-based instruction. Specifically, I focus on three secondary school science teachers to ask the following research questions:

- 1. What factors influence how these teachers teach and in what ways?
- 2. What teaching strategies do these teachers use to encourage student inquisitiveness and why do they use these strategies?

Plan of the Thesis

This thesis contains five chapters: Introduction, Literature Review, Methodology,
Findings, and Discussion. Chapter 1 (Introduction) provides rationale for the research on student
inquisitiveness. Chapter 2 (Literature Review) provides background information on factors that
can influence how teachers teach, the benefits and challenges of student inquisitiveness, and
strategies that can be implemented by teachers in the classroom to encourage student

inquisitiveness. Chapter 3 (Methodology) provides information about the research context, participants, data collection and data analysis. Chapter 4 (Findings) presents themes that were found in the data gathered from classroom observations and participant interviews. Finally, Chapter 5 (Discussion) answers the research questions by summarizing the findings and making connections to existing literature and suggesting areas for future research.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

In this chapter, I present existing literature regarding: factors that impact the ways in which teachers teach, student inquisitiveness, the benefits and challenges of encouraging students to be inquisitive, and strategies that can be used to increase student inquisitiveness. While this study is focused on science teachers and their actions in their classrooms, this chapter is more generally about the components listed above. Regardless of the subject matter being taught, these components may impact teachers' practice. It is important to understand how different factors influence teachers' teaching practice while also examining different ways in which teachers can encourage their students to be inquisitive.

Factors Influencing Teaching Style

From the day they enter their teacher preparation programs, science teachers are fed information about science and science teaching that ultimately impacts the ways in which they teach science. Through their time in school and as a practicing teacher, teachers develop differing views and beliefs on scientific theories, scientific processes and progressions and changes of scientific knowledge (Brickhouse, 1990). Ultimately, teachers' beliefs about education, as well as the factors listed above, influence the ways teachers perceive of science education and how they teach the content (Brickhouse, 1990; Roehrig & Luft, 2004). The ways in which teachers (science or otherwise) teach are not only defined by their pedagogical preferences, but also by different factors that exist in their school communities. As a result of school structure and administrative mandates, teachers need to take into account the mandated curriculum, preparing students for the next level of education, and standardized exams when teaching their respective courses (Engel & Randall, 2009; Hamachek, 1999).

Curriculum. One factor which influences the material teachers cover, as well as the ways in which they teach, is the curriculum that they are mandated to follow by their school or province. Most teachers in North America are given a curriculum, with certain goals that they need to meet by the end of the year. Studies show that teachers can feel limited in the classroom because of the curriculum they are expected to follow. For example, Osborn et al. (2000) found that teachers felt that a standardized curriculum took away from their abilities to meet the specific needs of their students, as well as the opportunity to be creative with the curriculum, as they had to focus on covering a wide variety of topics in a short amount of time. Furthermore, Hurley (2004) found that Canadian teachers felt that their role encompassed implementing curriculum and government mandated policies, rather than inspiring their students and creating change in their classrooms. Additionally, Schweisfurth (2006) found that when teachers felt able to expand on the mandated curriculum, they were reminded that they cannot stray too far away from the curriculum, as the teachers needed to ensure they meet the required goals. Indeed, when teachers focused on topics that were deeper and related to bigger societal issues, they felt they did so because of their own consciences rather than as a result of a government mandate (Schweisfurth, 2006).

Preparation for the next level of education. In addition to meeting the requirements laid out by the curriculum, teachers are also aware that they should be adequately preparing their students for the next level of education, particularly secondary school teachers whose students are moving into the university level. As a result, teachers may feel limited in what they can do in the classroom, out of fear that what they are doing is not preparing their students for the next step in their educational journey. Schwartz et al. (2008) found that teachers questioned whether they should focus on depth or breadth in science in order to prepare their students for university.

Those who focused on breadth believed that their students would be better served having encountered a wide variety of topics at a more surface level, while those who focused on depth of a topic believed that there were certain topics that students should know at a deeper level, while disregarding others at a surface level (Schwartz et al., 2008). Sadler and Tai (2001) found that students' grades were higher in university when secondary school physics teachers taught their students in a rigorous way, but also when they spent time covering the material in depth. Furthermore, they found that it was helpful to students when teachers took the time to approach problems in a variety of ways, therefore providing more opportunities for students to understand the problems (Sadler & Tai, 2001). Therefore, depending on their beliefs, as well as the requirements set by their mandated curriculum, teachers' teaching style may be impacted by whether or not they believe they should cover a wide range of topics in less depth, or if they should focus on deep understanding of certain topics before moving on to something new.

Preparation for standardized exams. Standardized exams are a third factor that can influence how teachers teach their classes. There are many forms of standardized exams including: state or provincial tests (administered to students in a particular state or province), national or international exams (administered to students across a country, or countries), and university entrance exams. In Canada, provinces decide when students will be administered a provincial exam and in which subjects. For example, Québec administers provincial assessments and uniform ministry examinations in Grades 6, 9, 10 and 11 (Volante & Jaafar, 2008). Students at public schools in the United States take state examinations, the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) and the Program for International Student Assessment (PISA) (Turner, 2014). In Finland, students take one standardized exam at the end of secondary school

and in Japan, students do not take a standardized exam at the end of secondary school, however, most students are required to take an entrance exam for university (Turner, 2014).

Teachers may feel the weight of these standardized exams, and as a result, they may influence the pedagogy that they use in the classroom (Schwartz et al., 2008). Standardized exams can impact whether a student can move on to the next level of education, influence how a school is "rated" by the government, be used to assess teachers, and determine which universities a student is accepted into. As a result, teachers may adapt their teaching practice to teach their students in ways that will enable them to perform well on these exams.

Furthermore, standardized exams have been found to limit reform efforts, specifically in science education (Anderson, 2011). In the United States, although the call for inquiry-based instruction and overall reform is high, these efforts get "sidelined by efforts to improve standardized [exam] scores" (Anderson, 2011, p. 117). Similarly, Boyd (2010) found that state examinations caused teachers to teach their students at the lowest level, relying heavily on curriculum materials provided. The literature also shows that school leaders feared that teachers focusing efforts on adopting pedagogies outlined in reform efforts would not contribute to increased standardized exam scores (Anderson, 2011). Teachers felt more concerned about teaching to the exam, and some even expressed that they strayed from teaching in the ways that they thought were best, as they were held accountable to their students' scores on these state mandated exams (Anderson, 2011). Therefore, it is important to investigate how teachers' teaching contexts influence the ways in which they are teaching in the classroom, and to determine if the stress of higher education and standardized exams, are influencing teachers' teaching practice.

The ways in which teachers teach greatly impact how students learn. It is important to consider why teachers are teaching in the ways they are, and how their pedagogy influences student learning. When considering teachers' use of inquiry-based instruction, it is important to focus on an essential component of this pedagogy: student inquisitiveness. Therefore, in order to encourage the use of inquiry-based instruction in the classroom, it is necessary to understand how teachers can foster student inquisitiveness in their classrooms.

Student Inquisitiveness

A key feature of inquiry-based instruction is that the teacher is creating an environment where students are inquisitive and are constantly seeking to know more. An inquisitive person is one who wants to engage in good questioning (Watson, 2015). "Asking questions about the nature of the material world, and being able to answer them, is a key feature of science" (Chin & Osborne, 2008, p. 5). Asking questions can be defined as "one of the thinking processing skills which is structurally embedded in the thinking operation of critical thinking, creative thinking, and problem solving" (Cuccio-Schirripa & Steiner, 2000, p. 210). Inquisitive students not only ask questions, but they demonstrate engagement in their learning, curiosity about what it is that they are learning, and a desire to know more. Consider a child who encounters a new toy for the first time. The child will try to figure out how the toy works by playing with it, experimenting with its different functions, moving it in different directions, and examining every corner of it. The child does so, all in the effort to answer the question: How does this toy work? Similarly, to figure out why something is the way it is, inquisitive students will experiment, problem solve, and engage with the topic at hand.

While inquisitive students can ask questions internally to themselves, as a child might do when playing with a new toy, they can also ask questions externally to their peers and their

teachers. While both internal and external questions are characteristics of an inquisitive students, this thesis focuses on the questions that students ask out loud to their peers or teachers. Students may ask questions to their peers and their teachers as a result of cognitive disequilibrium (Graesser et al., 2005). Cognitive disequilibrium occurs when "individuals are confronted with obstacles to goals, anomalous events, contradictions, discrepancies, salient contrasts, expectation violations, obvious gaps in knowledge, and decisions that require discrimination among attractive alternatives" (Graesser et al., 2005, p. 1236). Equilibrium is restored when students come to an answer or understanding of their question (Huang et al., 2017). Students may also ask questions for other reasons including: they may be unfamiliar with a word or a concept; there may be a gap between what they know and what they would like to know; or they may simply be curious and want to learn more (Chin & Osborne, 2008).

Question asking includes the processes of students restating previously asked questions and generating new questions (Huang et al., 2017). Research shows that as students get older, they ask fewer questions as they fear not knowing an answer or a specific fact (Chin & Osborne, 2008; Hofstein & Lunetta, 2003). Additionally, students tend to ask factual questions that can be answered with one simple response, instead of requiring explanation and further questioning (Chin & Osborne, 2008; Hofstein & Lunetta, 2003; Tseng et al., 2015). In a typical classroom setting, students are always learning how to answer their teacher's questions; however, they rarely learn how to ask their own, productive questions (Huang et al., 2017). Furthermore, students are conditioned to follow step-by-step instructions but less often are they asked to think about how they would solve a problem and devise a solution to that problem (Huang et al., 2017).

It is important to encourage students to ask questions, as their engagement in asking questions provides evidence that they have been thinking, evaluating and reasoning with what they do and do not know (Chin & Osborne, 2008). Student questions also provide the teacher with information such as what students are thinking, how they are conceptualizing the information, what is confusing to them, and what they would still like to know more about (Chin, 2004). One way in which teachers can encourage students' inquisitiveness, is by providing opportunities for students to be curious in class.

"Curiosity is the desire to know more" (Schutte & Malouff, 2019, p. 563). When students are curious about something, they will inherently become more inquisitive and ask questions in order to learn more about the phenomenon or topic at hand (Engel & Randall, 2009). For example, Engel and Randall (2009) found that those students who were more curious in a setting demonstrated this curiosity by exploring the different objects, asking questions and demonstrating a strong desire to know more about what they were experiencing or seeing. Therefore, student inquisitiveness and curiosity go hand in hand, because without one, the other does not exist. It is important to consider student inquisitiveness, as it benefits both students and teachers in a classroom.

Benefits of student inquisitiveness. Student inquisitiveness and more generally, students' questions are of benefit to the students themselves for a number of reasons. First, students' questions are valuable tools to help them to identify what they do not know or understand, while also allowing students to focus their curiosity and learning on a topic or on an area of interest. Student-generated questions also help to motivate students, increase their interest in a topic, promote discussion and debate and allow students to construct knowledge on their own (Chin, 2002; Chin & Osborne, 2008; Huang et al., 2017). For example, Chin and Kayalvizhi

(2007) found that about 75% of Grade 6 students preferred to study questions that they had posed, rather than those that the teacher or the textbook had posed to them. Finally, students' questions have the potential to transform a passive classroom into an active, engaged one; therefore, students need to learn the skills to ask good questions and should be encouraged to ask questions that will lead to productive inquiry-based learning in the classroom.

Students' questions also aid teachers in enhancing their teaching practice and meeting the needs of their students (Chin & Osborne, 2008; Huang et al., 2017). Students' questions help teachers to evaluate students' understanding and their ability or inability to understand a concept at a higher level (Chin & Osborne, 2008; Chin & Osborne, 2010; Huang et al., 2017). Students' questions signal to teachers what students still do not know or what requires further clarity or explanation (Bekkink et al., 2015; Biddulph et al., 1986). Thus, based on their students' questions, teachers are then able to alter their lessons in order to make sure their students remain engaged in their learning, while also creating opportunities for future inquiry-based lessons (Chin & Osborne, 2008). While there are many benefits to having students ask questions, there are many reasons why this does not occur.

Challenges to developing student inquisitiveness. Students may encounter different challenges when developing their own inquisitiveness in the classroom. Such challenges could be related to students' ages and previous experiences with asking questions in the classroom (Biddulph & Osborne, 1982). For example, Good et al. (1987) found that the number of student questions increased between kindergarten and Grade 7, then decreased until Grade 12. One reason why students may ask fewer questions when progressing from 7th to 12th grade is that as students get older, especially in secondary school, they do not like to call attention to themselves by asking questions (Good et al., 1987). Furthermore, as students get older, their inquisitiveness

may decrease as they are more interested in knowing the facts, and less interested in coming to an understanding of something. As a result, these students may ask factual questions that are not the result of curiosity and do not require much explanation or further inquiry (Good et al., 1987). Another challenge to developing students' inquisitiveness is that students may not know how to ask questions (Chin & Osborne, 2008). For example, students' questions, in order to be beneficial to them from an inquiry standpoint, should be investigable. Developing students' ability to ask investigable questions is a skill that needs time to develop and can be enhanced with support from teachers (Herranen & Aksela, 2019).

While asking questions is a challenge for students, teachers may also choose not to encourage their students to ask questions for a variety of reasons. For example, Rop (2002) found that teachers found students' questions to be a nuisance, as the questions interrupted the flow of the lesson. Similarly, Brown et al. (2006) found that teachers viewed lessons that incorporated student questions as requiring a lot of effort and taking away from instructional time. Researchers have also found that teachers see their role as knowledge providers and thus believe that when students ask questions, the teacher's role is to provide an answer (Eshach et al., 2013). Consequently, teachers may refrain from encouraging their students to ask questions because they worry that they may be unable to answer the questions or they fear their science background will not be adequate to answer a question (Biddulph et al., 1983; Eshach et al., 2013; Symington & Osborne, 1985). Therefore, teachers who are not confident in their answers may fear student questions (Eshach et al., 2013). As a result, Eshach et al. (2013) found that some teachers would ignore their students' questions. Despite these challenges for teachers and students, in order to support students to increase their engagement and motivation in science, it is

important to consider the teacher's role in developing student inquisitiveness in the classroom, as well as ways in which they can promote student inquisitiveness.

Teacher's Role in Developing Student Inquisitiveness

Teachers play an important role in supporting student inquisitiveness (Chin & Osborne, 2008). This is particularly important in science classrooms as here, it is of the utmost importance to engage in inquiry as this encourages students to act, think and learn like scientists (Chin & Osborne, 2008). Research shows that when teachers take the time to guide their students in the process of generating questions, students are able to walk away with a deeper understanding of their own learning process, therefore moving their focus from solely concentrating on learning outcomes and more on the process of learning (Tseng et al., 2015). It is thus important that science teachers find different ways to encourage their students to ask questions in class, in order to work towards promoting an inquisitive and scientific classroom.

Teacher strategies to develop student inquisitiveness. Teachers can use many different strategies in order to encourage inquisitiveness in the classroom. These include: giving students time before and during activities to ask questions; making the learning interesting; giving students question words; modeling question asking; explicitly encouraging students to ask questions; refraining from judging students; asking students to record their questions; using a question board; encouraging students to elaborate on what they think; and encouraging student autonomy. Not only are these strategies useful for encouraging inquisitiveness in the classroom, but they can also allow students to begin to act as scientists in the classroom, as they prompt investigation, exploration and questioning. The following sections will describe teacher strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness in more detail.

Giving students time before and during activities to ask questions. One way in which teachers can encourage student inquisitiveness is by giving students time, including wait time and structured time, before and during activities to ask questions. While teaching, teachers can use wait time, that is three to five seconds or more of silent time, for students to think before asking or answering a question (Chin, 2002, 2004; Chin & Osborne, 2010; Maskill & Pedrosa de Jesus, 1997; Tanner, 2017). In doing so, teachers give students the opportunity to be curious about a new topic before getting into the details and structured content. Giving students wait time allows them to fully process and formulate what it is that they would like to know, as well as time to structure their questions (Gilliam et al., 2018; Ingram & Elliott, 2015; Wasik & Hindman, 2018). When provided with ample time to think, students produce more responses, and questions, as compared to when teachers immediately interject during conversations (Wasik & Hindman, 2018).

Teachers can also give their students structured time during a lesson to ask questions and include this structured time in their lesson plans (Chin, 2002, 2004). In order to do so, teachers can present the students with a problem and ask what questions they have about the problem before attempting to solve it (Chin, 2004). Teachers can also give their students designated question time throughout a lesson, in order to show students that asking questions during a lesson is encouraged and is the norm. In their study, Chin and Brown (2002) found that when given explicit time to ask questions, students, even those who did not typically ask questions, asked questions because they were provided with the opportunity to do so. The questions that students generate during this time can be used at the end of the lesson, as well, to act as a guide for students to grasp what they learned in the lesson, and what questions remain at the end of class (Chin, 2002).

Making the learning interesting. Another strategy that teachers can use to encourage student inquisitiveness, is to find ways to make the learning interesting for students (Biddulph et al., 1986; Chin, 2002; Krajcik & Sutherland, 2010). In order to make the learning interesting, teachers can: give students interesting representation forms to explore science content (Biddulph et al., 1986), give students interesting contexts to explore science content (Hampden-Thompson & Bennett, 2013), and give students inquiry-based activities (Hofstein et al., 2005).

Using interesting representation forms is one way that teachers can make learning interesting for their students to explore science content. Interesting representation forms can include (but are not limited to) charts, graphs, images, videos or lab activities. These representation forms force students to think more about a phenomenon, while also sparking their attention and interest (Biddulph et al., 1986; Chin, 2002). These representation forms can be interesting to students when they display unexpected outcomes or challenge the students' thinking, therefore generating more questions from students (Biddulph et al., 1986).

Furthermore, by giving interesting representation forms to explore science content, the students can be more motivated and engaged to ask questions (Krajcik & Sutherland, 2010). These representation forms are interesting because the information is not presented to students using only text or spoken words. Instead, these representation forms allow students to interact with the content in various ways.

Another way in which teachers can make the learning interesting for students is by giving students interesting contexts to explore science content. Teachers can do so by making science content more relatable to students, either by considering their lives, their interests, or what they already know (Hampden-Thompson & Bennett, 2013; Harmer & Cates, 2008; Jocz et al., 2014; Stroupe, 2014; Tan & Seah, 2011; van Zhee et al., 2000). When students are able to connect

content or activities to real life and are able to consider solutions for these real-world problems, they may become more motivated to learn (Harmer & Cates, 2008; Jocz et al., 2014).

Furthermore, by making these connections to their lives, students' curiosity and interest increases, therefore prompting them to ask more questions (Hampden-Thompson & Bennett, 2013; Jocz et al., 2014; Stroupe, 2014; Tan & Seah, 2011). Therefore, by relating class to the real world and to students' lives, teachers can help to increase their inquisitiveness as they become more interested in, and curious about, the topics being covered.

Finally, teachers can make the learning interesting for students by using inquiry-based activities, as students' questions are the starting point for these activities (Hofstein et al., 2005; Tan & Seah, 2011). For example, Hofstein et al. (2005) found that students in inquiry-based classrooms, who were required to ask questions by nature of the teaching approach, asked many more questions than students in traditional classroom settings. Furthermore, students in inquiry-based classrooms were more interested in studying questions that required further investigation, while the students in traditional classrooms were more interested in receiving an answer to a question that did not require more investigation. By giving students inquiry-based activities, teachers are making the learning interesting for students which can help to increase question asking in their classrooms. While teachers can use all three examples listed above individually, they can also combine the strategies to make the learning interesting for their students.

Giving students question words to help them begin questions. A strategy that can be used to guide students in asking more questions, as well as to help them in formulating questions, is giving students question words which they can use to begin their questions (Chin, 2002; Chin & Brown, 2002; Chin & Osborne, 2010; Rosenshine et al., 1996). These include: "what if," "why does," or "why are". Teachers should also take the time to teach their students how to

phrase questions and what the differences are in questions that begin with the words: why, how, what if, when, and where (Chin, 2002; Chin & Brown, 2002; Huang et al., 2017; Rosenshine et al., 1996). By teaching students how to use these words, and when it is appropriate to do so, teachers give students additional tools for inquisitiveness which they can use in the future. Asking students to begin questions using these question words is helpful as it also encourages them to ask higher-level questions, rather than simply recall questions (Chin, 2002). Students can be encouraged to generate questions by comparing, contrasting, inferring cause and effect, determining strengths and weaknesses, and explaining ideas (Huang et al., 2017). A study done by King (1991) demonstrates the usefulness of question starters, as once students were given these supports, they quickly adopted them and used them to advance in their question asking, compared to those students who were not given any questioning strategies. Therefore, by giving students question stems or starters, teachers are providing them with the tools necessary to ask more questions.

Modeling question asking. Another way in which teachers can encourage inquisitiveness, is by modeling question asking themselves; in other words, by demonstrating to students what types of questions can be asked. It is important for teachers to model question asking, as students may be unsure of how to ask a question, and what questions look like in their respective classroom environments (Biddulph et al., 1986). A teacher could also model how a broad question can lead to subsequent, more focused questions and investigations to give the students a sense of what an investigable question looks like (Chin, 2002, 2004). Asking questions is a skill that teachers need to teach their students, before they can actively employ this skill, which is why it is important that teachers demonstrate to their students how they can ask questions (Chin, 2002). Additionally, by modeling question asking, teachers are not only giving

their students examples of questions that can be asked, but they are also making it the norm that questions are asked in their classroom environment (Chin & Osborne, 2008).

Explicitly encouraging students to ask questions. Once students are equipped with the tools that they need to ask questions, teachers should encourage student inquisitiveness by explicitly asking them to ask any questions they may have (Chin, 2002; van Zhee et al., 2000). By asking students to ask questions, teachers signal that it is okay if students have questions, which can increase possibilities for inquisitiveness in the classroom (Chin, 2002). Chin and Brown (2002) found that students asked questions when explicitly asked to do so, and conversely refrained from asking questions when they were not prompted to do so. Additionally, Fowler (2012) found that when teachers put students in a "hot seat" and required them to ask a question, question-asking increased amongst all students. In these situations, students also developed a deeper understanding of the topics being covered. Furthermore, students commented that being required to ask questions provided them with additional question-asking practice, therefore helping them to develop their question-asking skills (Fowler, 2012).

Refraining from judging students' contributions. Another way in which teachers can encourage inquisitiveness is by refraining from judging students' contributions (Chin, 2002). Students will feel more comfortable asking questions when they know that they are not going to be reprimanded for asking a "bad" question. "Students' questions must always be received with sensitivity and enthusiasm" (Chin, 2002, p. 63). By accepting all students' questions, teachers are also creating a receptive classroom atmosphere, where question asking is the norm and where students are encouraged to ask questions (Chin, 2004; Stroupe, 2014). According to Chin (2004), the "key to a questioning climate is the attitude of the teacher towards questions" (p. 110).

atmosphere where all claims and questions are backed up by further questioning and reasoning by students (Rogat et al., 2014; Stroupe, 2014). Stroupe (2014) found that when teachers refrained from judging students' questions, students shared more ideas and asked more questions as compared to classrooms where students' ideas were evaluated as right or wrong, without further discussion. Therefore, by accepting all questions, teachers create an atmosphere where inquisitiveness and students' contributions are accepted and encouraged.

Asking students to record their own questions. Teachers can encourage their students to ask questions by asking them to record any questions they may have, either in a notebook, on a computer, or on another writing or recording tool (Chin, 2002; van Zhee et al., 2000). Writing down questions is especially useful as it gives all students the opportunity to ask questions, including those who are less vocal in class (Maskill & Pedrosa de Jesus, 1997). Additionally, by asking students to write down any questions they may have, teachers are providing students with more thinking time, instead of the pressure usually felt due to time limitations when asked to share their questions orally (Maskill & Pedrosa de Jesus, 1997).

Finally, by writing down their questions, students are participating in a form of note taking. Note taking is beneficial to students' learning and has been shown to increase cognition and achievement, and therefore learning, in classrooms (Titsworth & Kiewra, 2004). By asking students to write down questions, teachers are giving them the opportunity to remain inquisitive, they are giving students extra time to generate questions, and they are giving students opportunities for increased cognition and achievement.

Using a question board to record student questions. In addition to having students write down their own questions, teachers can encourage inquisitiveness by making a public record of students' questions, to be displayed throughout the class on something such as a whiteboard

(Chin, 2002; Krajcik & Sutherland, 2010; van Zhee et al., 2000). Creating a public record of student thinking is important as it displays to the teacher where students are at and what they would like to focus their attention on (Windschitl et al., 2012). By representing their thinking in a clear and public way, students' ideas and questions can become the drivers of class discussion.

Additionally, recording students' questions publicly allows students and teachers to revisit ideas and questions throughout the class, allowing the discussion to continue while also giving students the opportunity to revise or restate their questions or contributions (Stroupe, 2014). In this way, students' ideas and questions become resources for the entire class (Michaels et al., 2008). By publicly displaying students' questions, teachers give their students the opportunity to have a visual representation of different types of questions, as well as allowing students to see themselves as active participants in the classroom and to demonstrate that they value their students' ideas and that the questions are worthy of being shared with the whole class (Warren et al., 2001; Windschitl et al., 2012), hopefully encouraging students to ask more questions.

Encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts. Once students are asking questions, teachers can encourage them to ask more questions by prompting students to elaborate on their thinking (Cano et al., 2014; Chin, 2002; Rogat et al., 2014; Windschitl et al., 2012). Doing so provides the opportunity for discourse in the classroom, giving students opportunities to reason through, question and strengthen their understanding of a topic or phenomenon (Windschitl et al., 2012). By pressing on student thinking and by asking students to elaborate on their ideas, teachers are working to direct and encourage further student thinking and questioning (Hlas & Hlas, 2012). For example, Cano et al. (2014) found that the more that students were required to explain their thinking and make sense of information given to them, they asked more

questions and at a deeper level than those students who were not encouraged to elaborate on their thinking. This elaboration not only helps those students who are contributing, but it also helps the teacher to evaluate where students are at in a lesson (Franke et al.,1997). Additionally, when students provide explanations to questions or ideas, they are able to grasp the material at a deeper level, engage in further questioning to come to an understanding, and create a sense of learning for themselves (Nathan & Knuth, 2003; Webb & Palinscar, 1996). Research demonstrates that teachers need to press on students' thinking to support students in the process of elaborating on their thinking (Franke et al., 2009). Not only does elaborating on their thinking cause students to ask more questions, but it also provides opportunities for their peers to inquire on their reasoning and begin asking each other questions, therefore increasing possibilities for inquisitiveness in the classroom (Windschitl et al., 2012).

Encouraging student autonomy. In order to promote student inquisitiveness, it is important that teachers give students opportunities for autonomy in the classroom, that is, working independently from the teacher (Dunlop et al., 2013; Jocz et al., 2014; Schutte & Malouff, 2019). In order to enhance autonomy in the classroom, there are a variety of approaches that teachers can take.

Group work is one way in which teachers can encourage autonomy, and as a result, inquisitiveness, in the classroom (Marbach-Ad & Sokolove, 2000a; van Zhee et al., 2000; Windschitl et al., 2012; Woods-McConney et al., 2016). Working with peers allows students to problem solve together thereby modeling the process that scientists use to arrive at conclusions for their real-world problems (Woods-McConney et al., 2016). In these groups, students ask questions, challenge their peers' findings or contributions, and work to reach shared understandings (Galton et al., 2009; Laal & Ghodsi, 2012; Woods-McConney et al., 2016).

These groups are interactive and learner-centered, preventing students from becoming passive during class (Galton et al., 2009; Woods-McConney et al., 2016). By structuring class activities, projects, discussions and other learning opportunities around group work, teachers are creating an inquiry environment where students can question and debate with one another. This environment is central to creating a classroom where students are guiding their learning and asking many questions, instead of being told exactly what steps to take by teachers. Therefore, by asking students to work with their peers and by giving students autonomy in the classroom, teachers are increasing the potential for student engagement, interest, curiosity, and further inquiry, in the classroom (Jocz et al., 2014; Schutte & Malouff, 2019).

In addition to group work, teachers can encourage autonomy in other ways. For example, teachers can: give students a problem to solve on their own, give students choice in a topic to study or activity to do, encourage students to work on their own before stepping in to help them, or ask students to elaborate on their thinking (Chin, 2002; Dunlop et al., 2013; Rogat et al., 2014; Schutte & Malouff, 2019). When students have autonomy, their interest in a topic or activity increases and often this leads to students wanting to know more and asking questions (Jocz et al., 2014; Reeve & Jang, 2006; Schutte & Malouff, 2019; Stefanou et al., 2004). Giving students autonomy in the classroom prioritizes the students' thinking and allows students to develop answers to problems that they believe are important and relevant without a specific "prescription" from the teacher (Dunlop et al., 2013).

Summary. When considering how to encourage student inquisitiveness in class, it is important that teachers consider the strategies described above. Doing so gives students the opportunity to engage in the process of learning to ask questions, while also giving them more time to ask their own questions and discuss their findings with their peers. While the information

described above can be applied to many different classroom contexts, it can have an important impact on science classrooms. Teachers should use these strategies to support student inquisitiveness and to encourage their students to act, think and learn like scientists (Chin & Osborne, 2008). The strategies described above can aid students in the process of acting and thinking like scientists as they encourage students to discuss, debate, problem solve, share their ideas, revise their ideas based on their own, and their peers' contributions, all while collaborating with one another in order to reach an answer or explanation. While the strategies described in this chapter can encourage student inquisitiveness, it is also important to consider the factors that impact teachers' teaching practice, such as the mandated curriculum, standardized tests and preparation for the next level of education, as they all influence what a teacher ultimately feels they can or cannot do in the science classroom.

Chapter 3: Methodology

My research study focuses on three science teachers in the same school and the ways in which they encourage inquisitiveness in their classes. This chapter introduces the context of the study and the three participants. It also describes the data collection and analysis methods used in this study, as well as ethical considerations.

My thesis is a qualitative study (Creswell, 2012) using a multiple case study approach (Merriam, 1998; Yin, 2018). This qualitative approach was chosen to explore the "central phenomenon" of three teachers' use of strategies to encourage inquisitiveness and inquiry in their science classrooms (Creswell, 2012, p. 129). A multiple case study is appropriate for this thesis as it "tries to illuminate a decision or a set of decisions" made by three teachers, "why [these decisions] were taken, how they were implemented, and with what result" (Schramm, 1971, p. 6). Additionally, the teachers in this study cannot be understood independent of their contexts (Merriam, 1998; Yin, 2018). The individual teachers and their actions in their classrooms are the focus of the case studies.

Research Context

This thesis focuses on three secondary science teachers from an independent school in Eastern Canada, The Ocean School. The Ocean School is relatively small Anglophone school in Québec that follows the mandated curriculum that exists in Québec, the Québec Education Program (QEP).

The Ocean School. Participants in this study are secondary science teachers at The Ocean School. The Ocean School is an independent school located in an urban center in Eastern Canada. Founded in 1930, it consists of two campuses encompassing Kindergarten through Grade 11, with approximately 450 students. The Ocean School is a coeducational, non-

denominational school and is committed to a student-centered pedagogy, that fosters engagement, excitement, and collaboration between students and teachers. Furthermore, they are firm believers in "learning by doing." The Ocean School works hard to ensure that all students have creative outputs, giving their students ample opportunities to participate in the arts during the academic day, as well as through extra-curricular activities. The Ocean School provides many out of classroom learning experiences for its students, including field trips, outdoor education and travel to different countries.

Québec education system. Teachers at The Ocean School are following a mandated curriculum, more specifically, the QEP (Gouvernement du Québec, 2020). Furthermore, the Progression of Learning "complements each school subject by providing further information on the essential knowledge that students must acquire and be able to use each year" (Gouvernement du Québec, 2020, para. 3). The framework lays out which topics should be covered between Grades 7-11 and identifies the ways in which these competencies can be evaluated.

Furthermore, some of the participants in this study were preparing their students to take standardized exams. In Québec, the Ministry of Education chooses which courses will be administered these standardized exams, otherwise known as ministry exams, and students take them when they are eligible to do so (Gouvernement du Québec, 2020). Students in Québec take a ministry exam in Science and Technology at the end of Grade 10. The results that students earn on ministerial exams carry more weight than do the grades that they earn from their teacher in the course (Gouvernement du Québec, 2020). This is to "ensure that the value of the Secondary School Diploma (SSD) is recognized by institutions of higher learning (universities and Collège d'Enseignement Général et Professionnel (CEGEP), for example) and by employers" (Gouvernement du Québec, 2020, para. 1). As a result, the ministry "moderates" the students'

grades in the courses where they are administered a ministry exam. In other words, performance on the exam and in the course should be comparable to avoid the ministry exam weighing more heavily and changing a student's final grade in the course (Gouvernment du Québec, 2020).

Finally, participants in this study were also preparing their students to continue onto a higher level of education. In Québec, CEGEP is an educational step between secondary-level education and university. Here, students focus on areas of study which they want to pursue in university, or where they prepare to enter the workforce (Fédération des cegeps, 2020). Thus, participants who teach Grade 11 courses were also preparing their students for CEGEP.

Participants

Participants selected for this study are three science teachers from The Ocean School.

Lilian, Roger and Noah were selected based on connections I made with them having been a student teacher at The Ocean School five years ago. The participants were selected through purposeful sampling (Creswell, 2012; Merriam, 1998), as they teach science and were willing to participate in this study. All three teachers are aware of inquiry-based education.

Lilian has been teaching for 22 years, 17 of which have been at The Ocean School. She teaches Grade 10 Science and Technology and Grade 11 Chemistry. Roger has been working at The Ocean School for 11 years. He began his career at The Ocean School as a lab technician and officially began teaching his first course in 2011. He teaches Grade 7 Science, Grade 10 Science and Technology, Grade 10 Engineering, Grade 10 Math and Grade 11 Physics. Finally, Noah has been teaching for a total of 14 years, all of which have been at The Ocean School. He teaches Grade 7 and 8 Science, as well as Grade 11 Physics.

Data Collection

Data collection for this study took place in two ways: classroom observations and one-one, semi-structured interviews. Data were collected between September 2019 and November 2019 and observations and interviews were planned with participants based on their availability. As part of this qualitative case study, additional interviews were conducted after data collected earlier in the study had been transcribed and analyzed as a way to address emerging themes in the data (Creswell, 2012).

During the week of September 30th, 2019 to October 4th, 2019, I conducted my first classroom observations and initial interviews with the participants. The first one-on-one interview consisted of open-ended questions, as a way to become familiar with each participant's teaching experiences, their specific classroom contexts, preferred pedagogy, ideas about inquiry and student inquisitiveness, and experiences with inquiry in their own classrooms. Questions, such as the following, were asked in the first interview:

- 1. What is your preferred style of teaching? Why?
- 2. What mandates how/what you teach?
- 3. What does it mean for a student to be inquisitive?
- 4. How do you foster an inquisitive classroom?
- 5. To you, what does it mean to use inquiry-based instruction?

The open-ended questions, in addition to probes, allowed me to address thoughts or ideas brought up by the participants during the interviews (Creswell, 2012). These interviews took between 30-45 minutes and were audio-recorded.

Between September 30th, 2019 and October 30th, 2019, a total of 17 direct classroom observations took place (Yin, 2018). Noah and Lilian were each observed six times and Roger was observed five times. Each class and associated observation lasted a total of one hour and 15 minutes. While observing the classes, I acted as a nonparticipant observer as I did not involve

myself in the activities occurring during class (Creswell, 2012). During each class, field notes were taken, either electronically or by hand, on a formal observation chart (Appendix A) created prior to the first observation.

The observation chart was developed using information gathered during the literature review process. This information made up the observation points that were used during classroom observations. More specifically, the observation points focus on strategies that teachers use in order to promote inquisitiveness in their classrooms. These observation points include: giving students time before and during an activity to write questions; giving students interesting material; giving students unstructured time to observe different stimuli; giving students question words; modeling good questions; refraining from judging students; asking students to record their questions; writing students' questions on a question board; explicitly encouraging students to ask questions; encouraging students to elaborate on what they think; and, encouraging students to work together in pairs or groups. Furthermore, the observation chart includes an "additional notes" section, to note any other teacher strategies not already included in the chart. The observation points used differ slightly from the strategies listed in the literature review, as the observation chart was created after an earlier review of the existing literature. The observation chart is more general to ensure that a variety of perspectives and strategies could be examined during classroom observations. The goal was for the observation points to guide me in my observations, without overly limiting what I was looking for.

The observation chart was used during each classroom observation. I recorded if and how teachers were using the points described in the chart. The field notes included direct quotes from teachers, as well as notes describing the instances that led to teachers using any of the strategies described in the chart (Creswell, 2012).

Final interviews were conducted on November 18th, 2019, after the initial data had been transcribed and analyzed. This final interview focused on themes that emerged from earlier classroom observation and interview data, as well as strategies listed on the chart that were not used in any classroom observations (Creswell, 2012). Questions, such as the following, were asked during the final interview:

- 1. What are your views on how science should be taught?
- 2. How does the curriculum given to you influence how science should be taught?
- 3. One strategy said to be useful in encouraging inquisitiveness is the use of a board specifically designated to record student questions. What do you think of this strategy?
- 4. Another strategy is to give students question words such as: how are, why does... etc to help them begin their questions. What do you think of this strategy?

Data Analysis

All interviews were transcribed verbatim and any handwritten observational charts were made electronic. Initial data analysis was done using the teaching strategies described in the observation chart. A codebook was created to list the themes, or codes, directly related to the strategies, and a short identifier for each code (Merriam, 1998). For example, the teaching strategy "giving students interesting material" was coded as "material" and the teaching strategy "encouraging students to elaborate" was coded as "elaboration." This is consistent with a *pattern matching technique* for data analysis, as the literature illuminated different strategies that would be important to look for during classroom observations and interviews and became pertinent to the data analysis process (Yin, 2018). Data analysis was also done from the ground up, as new codes emerged in the data analysis process. Initial codes were related solely to the teaching strategies described in the observation chart; however, through the coding and data analysis process, new themes, such as autonomy and relatability emerged numerous times in the observation and interview data. As a result, they became codes related to encouraging student inquisitiveness. These new codes were then added to the existing codebook, as they became

important to consider when analyzing the remaining data. Once separated into different codes, data were analyzed within each code to look for subthemes emerging from the data. Data were further categorized into these subthemes and described accordingly (Merriam, 1998). After all data had been coded and analyzed, the different codes were organized into two overarching themes. These themes were: factors influencing teachers' teaching style and strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness. This coding process was completed using Google Docs and the commenting function to add in the code or codes that applied to the data being analyzed. All of the transcribed and coded data made up the case study database used for this study (Merriam, 1998). The data from interviews and classroom observations were triangulated as the teachers' views and opinions expressed in interviews were compared against the field notes taken of their actions during classroom observations. This triangulation of data ensures the trustworthiness and validity of the data (Flick, 2004).

Ethical Considerations

Well before beginning this study, ethical approval was obtained from McGill's Research Ethics Board. In an initial meeting, before beginning interviews or observations, prospective participants were informed of the ethical review and procedures and were provided a copy of the ethics proposal. Furthermore, I clarified any questions that the participants had about the study. Later, each participant signed a consent letter, knowing that they could terminate their participation at any time. Participants were told that their identity would be kept anonymous throughout the research process and that they would be referred to by a pseudonym. Participants were asked for permission to record, verbatim, what they were saying in their classrooms and during interviews, and to use what they said as potential quotes in the thesis. Additionally, all data collected were stored on a password protected computer.

Chapter 4: Findings

In this thesis, I examine how three secondary school science teachers encourage inquisitiveness in their classes. In examining the cases of Lilian, Roger and Noah, two themes emerged from the data analysis. These themes are: factors influencing teachers' teaching style and strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness.

The Case of Lilian

Lilian teaches Grade 10 Science and Technology and Grade 11 Chemistry. Lilian's Grade 10 Science and Technology classes consist of one section of enriched science and one regular stream science class. The regular stream Science and Technology class is required of all Grade 10 students, but students who wish to pursue science in CEGEP and future education take the enriched Science and Technology instead of simply the regular stream class. Both Grade 10 classes take the required ministry exam at the end of the year. Lilian's Grade 11 Chemistry class consists of students who would like to pursue science in their future studies and are taking multiple science classes in their final year of secondary school.

In regard to her teaching style, Lilian described herself as a teacher who uses a more traditional teaching style. She said, "I think I'm a very traditional teacher...I do a lot of talking but to make up for that, I try to be very enthusiastic." (Interview, 9.30.19) However, despite describing herself as a traditional science teacher, Lilian believes that science teaching should be student-centered. When asked how science should be taught, she replied: "Ideally, it would be a lot of student led, like what they're interested in more than this is the curriculum and a lot of the kids figuring out how to solve problems, which would be really great" (Interview, 11.18.19).

Lilian teaches in a way that demonstrates her flexibility and ability to adapt to anything at any moment. She explained this notion in regard to her own teaching:

A lot of my teaching has to do with being able to roll with the punches. 'Cause kids get discouraged and I think that's a big part of not doing well, so I try to be very positive. My mantra is "I'm training you. You are trying on your running shoes. Which ones are gonna be for the race, we don't know, we gotta find that strategy." (Interview, 9.30.19)

Therefore, Lilian strives to meet the needs of each individual student and therefore works hard to adapt to students' needs in order to meet them where they are in class. Lilian also likes to build relationships with students while she teaches. She said, "Another thing I try to do is really try to show the kids that I like them, and I think that's a big part about the way I teach also" (Interview, 9.30.19). Therefore, this aspect of connecting with students is a big part of her teaching style and something that she makes sure to do in her classes. Finally, Lilian likes to teach students skills that they can use in their lives. For example, when reflecting on the technology part of her Grade 10 Science and Technology curriculum, Lilian said:

[M]y hope is that this part of the curriculum is being put forth in order to get kids to be more sustainable. This is my perception of it, my positive thinking about this part is that if "Oh, I know how something works, I will not simply throw it out, I may get a new part and fix it," so if it's a screw then kids will know "Oh, I can just replace that screw." (Interview, 9.30.19)

By teaching students these skills, Lilian hopes that they can be useful to students in the future. In summary, Lilian uses a more traditional style of teaching, but in doing so demonstrates flexibility, a care for each student and a desire to help them succeed.

Lilian believes that students are inquisitive when they ask questions, problem solve and try to figure things out on their own. She said: "[B]eing inquisitive would mean questioning, trying to figure out the answers themselves, no leading or as little as possible" (Interview,

9.30.19). Students exhibit inquisitiveness when they ask questions and try to problem solve, and Lilian believes that the teacher should support students in doing so. She elaborated:

I try to get them to ask questions. Sort of like "How do you think this works?" You know, a lot of us are very good about asking questions but not leaving enough time for kids to kind of see what they think so you have to hold yourself back. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Furthermore, Lilian made connections between inquisitiveness and problem solving, saying that being inquisitive inherently involves solving problems and figuring things out. Therefore, Lilian believes that students are inquisitive when they ask questions and try to problem solve.

Factors influencing Lilian's teaching practice. As a Grade 10 Science and Technology and Grade 11 Chemistry teacher, Lilian feels that different factors influence her teaching practice. These factors include: the curriculum given to her, her awareness of preparing students for the next level of education, and her obligation to prepare students to take the Grade 10 ministry exam.

Meeting the goals of a mandated curriculum. Lilian reflected on how the science curriculum at The Ocean School influences how she teaches her classes, as well as the topics she was able to cover. More specifically, Lilian shared how the mandated curriculum in Québec, the Québec Education Program (QEP), influences her teaching practice saying, "You skim over a whole bunch of things and it kind of dictates the depth of what you're doing. Yeah, I think it influences me a lot for sure" (Interview, 11.18.19). Here, Lilian describes how the QEP not only influences what she has to teach, but also how she teaches because of the wide array of topics that she has to cover in a limited amount of time. Furthermore, Lilian believes that she would spend more time on different topics if she did not have to follow the QEP. Of this, she said, "There's topics that I'd love to spend more time on, and [I] could do that. I'd be focusing on

stuff that's more interesting to me. Like environmental things or global problems and science" (Interview, 11.18.19). Since she has to follow a strict curriculum, Lilian feels that she does not have time or space to focus on other science topics. Therefore, Lilian feels that if she was not so constricted to these curriculum guidelines, she could be teaching more about content that she loves.

Preparing students for the next level of education. In addition to the mandated curriculum influencing what she does in her classroom, Lilian also feels that the pressure of preparing her students for CEGEP and university impacts how she teaches. For example, when reflecting on teaching Grade 11 Chemistry, Lilian said:

There's no ministry [exam] but they're going to CEGEP. So you kind of want them to be okay in CEGEP...So I always feel like I should do as much as I can, while keeping in the "do you get it" mode. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Additionally, she believes that going into depth on certain topics means that she would "not [be able to] cover everything" which puts her students at a disadvantage in CEGEP and university (Interview, 9.30.19). Since Lilian has to prepare her students to meet the demands of CEGEP and university, she believes that she has less time to devote to other activities or conversations and instead needs to ensure that she covers as much content as possible.

Furthermore, Lilian believes that students preparing for CEGEP and university adds a sense of competition and pressure on the marks that the students are receiving. When asked if she believes that CEGEP preparation takes away from the learning, Lilian responded, "Yeah...it's all about the mark. Like, I want students to see what they did wrong, what they did right, learn from their mistakes. It bothers me that everyone is so pressured towards the marks" (Interview, 11.18.19). Since good marks are required to get into CEGEP and university, Lilian

believes that her students become more concerned about marks and less concerned about the learning that is taking place. Lilian feels that the need to adequately prepare her students to meet the needs of CEGEP and university and also to receive the "required marks" to be accepted to a post-secondary program impacts how she teaches her classes.

Preparing students for standardized exams. In addition to the mandated curriculum, as well as the need to prepare students for the next level of education, Lilian feels that the Québec ministry exam greatly influences her teaching practice in her Grade 10 Science and Technology courses. Not only does the ministry exam influence what Lilian teaches, but it also impacts how she structures different activities in her Grade 10 class. For example, Lilian saves group work only for performing lab activities. She does this because students' lab marks are not moderated by the ministry and are, instead, only moderated by her, the classroom teacher.

Since the ministry exam has a significant impact on the students' final grade in their Grade 10 Science and Technology course, Lilian believes that it is important that students work in ways that reflect how they will write the exam. During her first interview, Lilian discussed the importance of teaching and evaluating her students in a way that demonstrates what they can do alone, and not in a group. She justified this thought by saying that the exam requires students to independently demonstrate that they have learned, without the help of a group or a partner. She specified that the ministry exam is not done with "your partner, not your group and that's why I'm very heavy on quizzes every week to keep them on track and then they have a unit test" (Interview, 9.30.19). Lilian feels that it is important to give students individual quizzes and exams, as they will eventually be writing the ministry exam on their own as well.

The ministry exam also impacts how Lilian teaches because of the weight the exam has on the students' final grade. Lilian explained the impact that the ministry exam has on her teaching practices. She said:

So, I'm 50% [and the ministry is] 50%. It's the average, but if I give 90s and then they get a 60 on the exam, it will not be the average. It'll be closer to 60. So that's why I'm very conscientious about [the classwork] needs to be what you can do. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Therefore, the ministry exam has such a large influence on her students' marks that she feels she has to teach in ways that would reflect the exam. Because Lilian feels the weight of the ministry exam on both her and her students' shoulders, she does a lot to make sure she teaches in ways that she thinks will help students succeed and not skew their marks at the end of the year.

In conclusion, Lilian reflected on the fact that the ministry exam feels like a hindrance to her teaching because she feels the pressure of teaching in a way that will guarantee that her students succeed on this standardized exam. When asked if she thinks that the ministry exam puts a constraint on how she teaches, Lilian responded:

I think the ministry exam definitely guides me because I know exactly how it is and what it's going to be. So I'm always trying to imagine, okay, what would the ministry ask about this so what do the kids need to know or what do they need to be able to do. So yeah, it's definitely a big constraint for sure. (Interview, 11.18.19)

Therefore, preparing her students for the ministry exam has a large impact on how Lilian teaches. Indeed, the ministry exam is just one of the factors that cause Lilian to feel pressure and restrict her teaching in certain ways.

Strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness. During her classes and in conversation during interviews, Lilian used and reflected on different strategies to encourage student

inquisitiveness including: making the learning interesting, modeling question asking, encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts, and giving students autonomy. In the sections that follow, I describe how she used these strategies, and, if applicable, how she reflected on these different strategies.

Making the learning interesting. Lilian made the learning interesting for her students by using different representation forms to present the science content in order to encourage her students to ask questions. These representation forms included: images, in-class demonstrations, and videos.

One way in which Lilian prompted questions from her students was by showing them different images that acted as discussion starters about different topics. One such discussion began when Lilian showed her Grade 11 Chemistry students an image of a metal container with symbols for fire, pressure, temperature and volume next to the container. After showing the image, Lilian asked her students to consider what would happen when the metal container was subject to fire, different temperatures, different pressures, and different volumes. Lilian also asked her students to think about how all of these factors are related. Students immediately became interested in the discussion and began to ask questions about what would make the metal container in the image explode, what would happen if the container froze, and what would happen if they brought the container down to the bottom of the ocean. The images seemed to be effective at getting Lilian's students to ask questions in addition to prompting interest and discussion.

In another instance, when Lilian's Grade 10 Science and Technology class was beginning to learn about the structure of the atom and static electricity, she began the lesson with a demonstration using a balloon and one student's hair. This demonstration prompted many

questions, and a lot of discussion amongst her students about static electricity, different charges, and what was happening to the electrons when the balloon was rubbed against the student's head. This demonstration clearly showed something happening to the student's hair as the balloon was rubbed against it, and students immediately became interested and asked many questions.

Lilian occasionally showed videos to her students during her class to spark question asking. For example, when discussing the discovery of the atom, she showed a video on cathode rays that led to Thomson's model of the atom, a video of Rutherford's alpha ray experiment, and a video on the size of the atom. The three videos were related, as they all built on one another and described the evolution of the model of the atom. The videos allowed for class discussions during which students brought up themes explored in the videos. Students were interested in knowing how one discovery helped pave the way for the next discovery, ultimately leading us to understand the atom in the ways in which we do today. Furthermore, they were interested in how scientists were able to do such experiments, safely, such a long time ago. One aspect that really caught their attention and that prompted many questions was the fact that Rutherford had to hide behind a brick wall during his alpha ray experiment to keep himself safe. By showing her students videos during class, Lilian helped to create an atmosphere of interest, questions and discussion between the students and with the teacher.

Modeling question asking. Lilian modeled question asking in order to demonstrate the types of questions students could be asking and to encourage them to ask more questions. For example, during a lesson in her Grade 10 Science and Technology class about closed-circuit systems, Lilian asked her students a question that required them to consider a scenario that differed from the focus of the lesson. As Lilian projected an animation of a closed-circuit system, students were discussing what they believed the outcome would be. But, in order to get students

to consider other scenarios, Lilian asked a question that modeled how they could do so. She said, "What if you looked at it from the point of view of an open circuit?" (Observation, 10.10.19). By asking this question, Lilian signaled to her students that it is okay, and that it is encouraged, to ask questions that relate to alternate scenarios.

Lilian also modeled question asking by demonstrating different questions students could be asking themselves to determine why they are completing something in a certain way. For example, while completing a lab on the Ideal Gas Law, Lilian's Grade 11 Chemistry students wondered why they had to add a specified amount of water to the setup. Instead of answering their questions directly, Lilian modeled what types of questions the students could ask themselves in order to figure out the answer to their question. She said, "Well, what could happen if there's too much water? And what could happen if there's not enough?" (Observation, 10.25.19). Students used her question to reason through an explanation for their own questions. In asking such questions, Lilian modeled question asking that requires students to think more outside of the box and consider something new in order to arrive at answer.

Furthermore, Lilian modeled question asking by getting students to think about the bigger picture. By doing so, she allowed her students to think about science in general and how what they are learning in class can fit into a larger view of science. For example, when her Grade 10 students were discussing the evolution of the model of the atom, she asked questions such as: "Why is it important to look back on history when doing science?" (Observation, 10.24.19), "What do we know today about the atom that [Democritus] didn't know?" (Observation, 10.24.19), and "Can you tell me why I care about talking about the atom before I mess with your hair in static electricity?" (Observation, 10.24.19). By asking these questions, Lilian demonstrated to her students the types of questions that may not be exactly related to the content

and to moving further along in "completing" the content for the day, but instead, showed her students that they can ask questions that tie together their learning, or that ask them to make connections to the content being covered and the real world.

At times, Lilian modeled questions that students could ask simply out of curiosity.

During an Ideal Gas Law lab, she wanted the students to be more curious about what would happen if they waited longer to put a flame to hydrogen gas. She said, "If we give the hydrogen more time to reach the top, will the pop will be bigger? Now let's wait a minute and a half and see what that does" (Observation, 10.25.19). Instead of following the lab instructions and waiting 30 seconds for the hydrogen gas to collect, Lilian demonstrated to her students that it is okay to ask questions out of curiosity and try something in a new way (assuming it is safe) in order to see if their curiosity would change the results. In doing so, Lilian modeled questions that could be asked as a result of genuine curiosity in the lab, hopefully encouraging them to ask these types of questions in the future. Lilian wants students to be asking questions, specifically questions related to "how does this work" (Interview, 9.30.19). So, by modeling question asking for her students, Lilian tried to encourage inquisitiveness in her classroom.

Encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts. Another strategy which Lilian used to encourage her students to ask questions was by finding ways to have them elaborate on their thoughts, ideas or questions. When students would contribute an idea during class discussions, she responded to their contributions with statements such as: "How do you know that?" (Observation, 10.9.19) and "Is there another way you could have looked at this?" (Observation, 10.10.19). Instead of telling students why what they are saying does or does not make sense, and instead of giving them other ideas to use, Lilian asks them to do this thinking

work for themselves. In doing so, she asks students to think about what they said and elaborate on their thoughts.

Lilian also used elaboration as a way to determine what her students were thinking during class activities in order to encourage her students to question their own thinking. When students were participating in a lab based on Avogadro's Law, Lilian circulated around the room to observe what they were doing. At times, Lilian would approach students and say things such as: "Why are you doing it this way?" and "How do you know when it's finished?" (Observation, 10.2.19). She did so to encourage students to think more about what they were doing, question their actions, and continue the lab having taken those comments into consideration. In another situation, a student had completed the lab activity and began to write up her lab report but had questions regarding possible sources of error. Lilian helped guide the student in her understanding of possible sources of error by asking her to elaborate on her thoughts. She said: "It's not a source of error because...what did we say about the magnesium?" (Observation, 10.2.19). Therefore, in asking this student to consider what happened with the magnesium in the lab, Lilian helped the student recapitulate the lab, ask questions about different steps in the lab, and come to an understanding of what the possible sources of error could be.

In another instance, Lilian's Grade 10 students were beginning a unit on the atomic model. One student contributed his thoughts on the different parts of the atom, particularly, in relation to the charges of protons, neutrons and electrons. Once this student completed his thoughts, Lilian responded by saying, "How come? How do you know that?" (Observation, 10.24.19). While the student was correct in his initial contributions, Lilian's question encouraged him to further back up his ideas with evidence and give an additional explanation. She described the importance of students who "can explain [a phenomenon and explain] how [they] would

solve [a problem]" (Interview, 9.30.19). Therefore, by asking her students to elaborate on their thoughts, Lilian not only challenged them to question their own thinking and encourage them to be inquisitive, but also got insight into their thinking.

Giving students autonomy. Another way in which Lilian encouraged inquisitiveness in her classes was by encouraging students to be autonomous and work as much as possible without her help. For example, in Lilian's Chemistry class, students were encouraged to be autonomous while completing the lab of the day which focused on the Ideal Gas Law. Lilian received many questions as students were trying to figure how they would execute the lab. While she gave the students a general idea of how the lab worked, she did not give them an exact, step-by-step procedure. Instead, the students were in charge of figuring out exactly what they should do which allowed them to ask questions. For example, when a student asked a question about the procedure for the lab, Lilian responded "Are you looking at the procedure? It's not step by step, so you guys are going to have to organize it better" (Observation 10.25.19). During these activities, she never gave students the answer, but she did point to places that could help them out. For example, Lilian said, "You should have a paper that tells you what you're measuring" (Observation 10.25.19). Instead of telling the students what they were measuring in the lab, she instead hinted at where they could find this information, encouraging them to remain autonomous in their work. Therefore, by encouraging autonomy Lilian also created an environment where questions were asked.

Summary of the case of Lilian. Lilian is a teacher who strived to make learning fun for students, while also taking into consideration the different requirements that she needs to meet, including teaching a mandated curriculum, preparing students for CEGEP and university and preparing students to take a ministry exam. Nevertheless, Lilian found ways to use different

strategies to encourage inquisitiveness in her classroom, specifically: making the learning interesting, modeling question asking, encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts, and giving students autonomy. While she felt the impacts of certain constraints, she found instances where she could make the learning as student-centered as possible, while still meeting the requirements placed upon her.

The Case of Roger

Roger teaches many courses including: Grade 7 Science and Technology, Grade 10 Enriched Science and Technology, Grade 10 Engineering, Grade 10 Regular Math and Grade 11 Physics. For the purpose of this thesis, classroom observations only focused on his Grade 10 Engineering class in order to add an elective course to the data collection. Grade 10 students in the enriched science stream take two science courses: the required Science and Technology and an elective course, instead of an Arts course which other students can opt to take. There are two elective courses offered to the enriched students: the Engineering course (which Roger teaches) and a Marine Biology course.

During classroom observations, the Grade 10 Engineering students were working on a forklift project. After learning about different mechanisms to enable the forklift to move, students were tasked with creating a model forklift that could lift a few pounds in a controlled manner. The students learned how to use different tools in the workshop, including drills, saws and metal cutters, and, once they were trained in how to use these tools safely, they were free to use any of these tools.

Roger is a strong proponent of finding ways to use hands-on activities in his teaching, as he believes that doing so allows students to be fully engaged in the learning process.

Furthermore, he believes that hands-on activities make teaching more enjoyable for the teacher.

Roger reflected on this idea:

I'm just thinking about my projects in engineering and those are the ones that I obviously appreciate the most just because it's less of me talking in front... so getting them to do something around the room and hands-on activities, and it's one thing to see a model working, but trying to ask specific questions that you won't have the answers right away to and for them to see yes, you use a model and this is how it works, but I think that with inquiry learning where you can analyze situations... I think that if all of it could be that way it just makes teaching a lot more enjoyable for sure. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Roger added that he tries to stay away from lecturing as much as possible, as he feels that this style of teaching is not beneficial for students. Roger said, "I don't really like to lecture at the front 'cause I feel like you only have a limited time span where they're actually going to continue listening to you" (Interview, 9.30.19). As indicated by his words, Roger believes that hands-on activities get his students involved and in doing so, he does not risk losing their attention. Roger did reflect that sometimes lecturing is necessary, but said, "I try to limit the amount of time I would need to present something and get them to do more hands-on activities" (Interview, 11.18.19). Roger also reflected on the fact that he likes projects and problems that have more than one right answer saying:

Sometimes it's them that's going to come up with the right answer collaboratively and there might be more than one answer and that's something that I really enjoy doing, especially in the project that we're doing now, is, I like projects where there's more than one answer. If there's only one right answer, I don't think it's a very good project. (Interview, 9.30.19)

When projects have more than one right answer, the students are able to come up with different answers on their own, which Roger enjoys, especially when considering the multiple solutions that students have come up with in his Engineering class that he had not yet thought of.

Roger believes that it is important to make science curriculum relatable because this way students can acquire skills to use in the real world, creating further engagement with the material. When describing how he designs his Engineering course Roger said:

For the Engineering course, that was an option course that I designed so it was all concepts that I looked into that I thought that high school students can grasp and be useful and be connected to what engineers do. It's also very much connected to a science course but in a practical sense. So, it helps them with what they're learning in theory in science, really put it in a practical setting but they also get to design it, to build it. So, it gives it a different twist, a different approach for those that like hands-on learning. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Therefore, with this hands-on learning, students were able to gain engineering skills and apply them in a practical sense.

Roger believes that inquisitive students are curious, that they care to know more about a phenomenon, and that they are always asking questions. He said:

They have to be asking a lot of questions when they are inquisitive and they have to be curious and it has to be their interest. So if they're going to be inquisitive they're going to, um, it could just be anything that they want to know what the answer is at that point cause they're inquisitive. They care to know. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Therefore, for students to be inquisitive, not only are they asking questions, but they are doing so because they are curious and they care to know the answer. He added that hopefully whatever is

going on in class is "interesting enough for them to want to know it, ask questions and try to figure it out what's going on depending on the situation" (Interview, 9.30.19).

Roger believes that in order to foster inquisitiveness in a classroom it is important to remain free of evaluation after a student says something or asks a question. He said:

If you want it to be inquisitive then you definitely can't always answer someone's response by going "that's a good point" before another student wants to maybe, you know if you keep saying "that's right, you're on the right track," then it's not really them discovering it 'cause you already said that the answer is on the right track. (Interview, 9.30.19)

According to Roger, if a teacher wants students to remain inquisitive, they should refrain from expressing to their students if they are on the right track. Roger believes that doing so may allow students to come up with their own answers, ones that he has not thought of himself. He adds:

[The students] often want your opinion because they're like okay, faster to the point, like they want the answer, but you have to know that you don't have all the answers so, sometimes it's them that's going to come up with the right answer collaboratively and there might be more than one answer and that's something that I really enjoy doing. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Indeed, Roger believes that student inquisitiveness not only gets students involved in their learning but can also allow them to discover new answers to problems. In order to maintain an inquisitive environment, Roger emphasizes that the teacher should give students opportunities to contribute their own thoughts and questions, without evaluation or response from the teacher.

Finally, Roger reflected on the necessity of a supportive environment to encourage inquisitiveness in his class. He shared that his students recognize that it is okay to ask questions

and to support their classmates in being inquisitive. When asked how to foster an inquisitive classroom he said:

It has to be made clear at the beginning that if one person is asking a question it's likely that someone else is thinking the same question in their head and, it's not nice to judge them because if you start judging one person then everybody feels like everyone is going to be judging each other, so it has to be an environment where they know that they're not being judged and they can ask questions and it being collaborative and everyone has a right to add to the conversation. (Roger, Interview, 9.30.19)

Not only should the teacher refrain from evaluating students' contributions, but students Roger believes that students should also give each other the space to contribute and ask questions.

According to Roger, an inquisitive environment is achieved when all students feel that they have the right to participate without judgement.

Factors influencing Roger's teaching practice. Roger teaches a wide range of courses including junior-level general science courses, elective courses, and courses with a ministry exam. In his interviews, he reflected on how different factors including the mandated curriculum, the need to prepare his students for the next level of education, and the pressure to prepare his students for the Grade 10 ministry exam, influences his teaching practice.

Meeting the goals of a mandated curriculum. Roger feels that the QEP and the Progression of Learning influence his teaching, especially in his Grade 10 Science and Technology class, as these curriculum documents outline the vast content needed to be covered in a limited amount of time. Roger explained that the strict series of topics he needs to cover, in addition to limited time, impacts his teaching practice. He said, "So, when you look at time, and you want to do certain things, you have to meet the Progression of Learning targets…[The

ministry] choose[s] the concepts and the topics" (Interview, 11.18.19). As he says, Roger does not choose the material that he would like to cover nor does he decide how much material is covered in a school year. As a result, Roger feels that the mandated targets set by the QEP and the Progression of Learning, coupled with a lack of time to meet these targets, impacts what he can do in his upper level courses.

While the Progression of Learning affects his teaching, Roger believes that the Progression of Learning also provides more flexibility in classes that do not have a ministry exam. For example, Roger said:

[T]here is a Progression of Learning for every grade, but again... since Grade 7 does not have a [ministry] exam at the end of the year you have a lot of flexibility in how you want to approach that course...The thing with our Progression of Learning, in Grade 7 and 8, each school can choose what concepts they want to put in Grade 7 and 8. So, the way that we divide it up, it works and we meet those targets, but it's just easier to do so, we have that flexibility. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Therefore, in the younger grades, and especially in his Grade 7 course, Roger does not feel as limited by the Progression of Learning because he believes that he has more flexibility and less content to cover.

Preparing students for the next level of education. In addition to feeling restricted by the mandated curriculum, Roger believes that the need to prepare his students for the next level of education, specifically CEGEP and university, also has an impact on his teaching practice. While reflecting on his Grade 11 Physics course and its requirements Roger said, "I definitely have to respect the Progression of Learning in that course so that they're ready for CEGEP" (Interview, 11.18.19). Therefore, in addition to feeling confined by the QEP and the Progression of

Learning, Roger also felt pressure to prepare his students for CEGEP. In order to adequately prepare his students for CEGEP, Roger believes that he needs to closely follow the QEP and the Progression of Learning. He added, "I have to make sure that they have the tools that they need to go to the next level" (Interview, 11.18.19). Therefore, Roger implied that by swaying from the mandated Progression of Learning, he would not be adequately preparing his students for the next level of education, so this awareness influences his teaching practice.

Preparing students for standardized exams. Roger described the impact that the ministry exam has on his teaching. Specifically, Roger shared that the curriculum is clearly specified for courses that have a ministry exam. He said, "So in my Grade 10 enriched science course it has a ministry exam at the end of the year and the government dictates what topics we have to teach for each course" (Interview, 9.30.19). While the curriculum ensures that Roger covers the required content to prepare his students for the exam, he shares that he can still decide how he wants to teach the content. He continued: "[The curriculum] forces me to make sure that I have those concepts all done but then I get to be creative with how I want to implement that afterwards" (Interview, 9.30.19). Although he had to keep the ministry topics in mind when teaching, Roger felt that he could be a bit creative in how he taught those topics, so long as they were covered by the end of the year.

Strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness. In his Grade 10 Engineering class, Roger used many different strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness. These strategies included: making the learning interesting, modeling question asking, encouraging students to ask questions, refraining from judging students' contributions, encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts, and giving students autonomy in the classroom.

Making the learning interesting. One way in which Roger promoted an inquisitive environment was by making the learning interesting for his students. He made the learning interesting by giving his students different representation forms to explore science content. He did so by giving his students objects to manipulate and explore. As students built their forklift models, he encouraged them to use the different tools and materials in the classroom. These objects included: different chains, pieces of wood, different screws, nuts and bolts, and other wood working tools. Here, Roger required his students to manipulate these objects on their own, instead of demonstrating for them, thereby giving them chances to explore. As students explored, they learned how these different objects work, and how they may or may not help them progress in their projects. Since students were invested in their projects and were determined to get them to function properly, the exploration of the different tools in the workshop was an important aspect of the forklift project and prompted much engagement from the students.

Even in cases where he gave them a suggestion, Roger would still ask his students to explore the materials first on their own instead of telling them what to do. In some instances when students were trying to figure out the best solution to their problem, he would ask students to model what it is they want to happen and he asked if the materials they have are possible to use for what they want to do. Other times, when students were having difficulties finding the best materials for their job, Roger said, "So let's look around the shop and find something that might work better!" (Observation, 10.1.19). As students searched for the useful materials in the workshop, they asked questions to Roger and other classmates, ensuring that their investigations would lead them to the most appropriate materials for their projects. Therefore, by allowing students to freely manipulate and explore different materials, Roger provided them with the space and multiple opportunities to ask their own questions as a result of their exploration.

Modeling question asking. Roger modeled question asking in order to provide guidance to his students and to model which questions they should be asking in order to help them move further along in their projects. As students worked on their projects, he would circulate the classroom and take time to stop by every table and discuss what the students were doing and why they were making those choices. When students were struggling, Roger would model which types of questions could help them work through their problems. For example, he asked questions such as, "If this is what you want [your forklift] to do, where would [the pulley] go?" (Observation, 10.1.19), "Does it matter if you do [put the screw] a little bit to the side?" (Observation, 10.24.19), and "So what happens if there is no hole [in the side structure]?" (Observation, 10.29.19). These questions demonstrate to students that they should be asking themselves questions that allow them to imagine alternate scenarios, experiment with different tools, and try to work backwards in order to arrive at a solution. The questions asked by Roger were ones that students could have asked themselves in order to make progress in their projects.

In his interview, Roger reflected on the idea of modeling these types of questions. He said, "If they're not asking themselves questions like 'Why are you getting that and why do you think so," then I'll be asking them questions like that" (Interview, 11.18.19). Indeed, Roger modeled the types of questions that require explanation that he wanted the students to be asking themselves.

Explicitly encouraging students to ask questions. Another way in which Roger ensured that his students were asking questions was by explicitly encouraging them to do so. Roger went as far as to make one assignment focus solely on the questions that students were asking their peers during their presentations. During the forklift project, Roger devoted a few class periods to student presentations. Each group presented their model for their forklift to the class, and the

other students were required to ask the presenting group questions about their projects in order to help them address any problems and move along in their design. Students were evaluated on the questions they asked rather than their presentations. Roger explained why he gave projects where students were marked on their question asking. He said:

I started putting in the presentations where they're helping each other out and it's not the presenters that are getting evaluated it's the ones in the audience so that they're paying attention on how to help them out or give them suggestions or just ask questions if they don't understand. If they don't understand something, then probably the presenters don't understand exactly what's going on. That opens the door for others to help out. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Therefore, by evaluating students on their questions, Roger gave them the push they might need to think of questions to be asking their peers. In addition, throughout the presentation process Roger would say things such as: "Ask questions if you don't understand something" (Observation, 10.1.19), "Any other questions based on that system?" (Observation, 10.1.19), and "Anything else? Questions about how this is going to work, where you might see issues?" (Observation, 10.10.19). By asking these questions, Roger provided additional opportunities for students to ask their own questions, therefore increasing student inquisitiveness in the class. As Roger required students in the audience to ask questions to the presenters, he created ample opportunities for all students to engage in question asking. As a result, each presentation ended with the majority of the students surrounding the presenters, interacting with their models and asking additional questions sometimes for up to 45 minutes.

Refraining from judging students' contributions. Roger was very supportive when his students asked questions and always accepted all questions, therefore encouraging them to

continue asking questions. For example, when his students were asking their peers questions during their project presentations, Roger would respond by saying, "Very good questions" (Observation, 10.1.19), "That's a good question. How would you do it?" (Observation, 10.1.19), and "Yes, that is the question!" (Observation, 10.10.19). In responding to students in these ways Roger does not shut down his students' questions and instead demonstrates that they are supported in asking their questions.

Roger was also supportive of students who contributed their ideas to a discussion, project or activity. For example, after his students described their project idea to him, he replied, "That's what I was thinking and you guys came up with it on your own" (Observation, 10.1.19). Or, "That's great. You want it in the center" (Observation, 10.29.19). In another instance, a student was struggling to find the best way to get his mechanical system to work efficiently. The student had an idea that was different from something that Roger had suggested he consider. Instead of judging this student and completely dismissing his idea, Roger responded with "I leave it to you. Maybe you can prove me wrong" (Observation, 10.24.19).

Roger reflected on the fact that he wants his students to feel safe and comfortable to participate in his class. He said that he wants his students to know that "everyone has a right to add to the conversation" (Interview, 9.30.19) and this includes asking questions. Roger demonstrates that he values his students' ideas by not putting anything down. As he said to a student one day, "Sure, anything is possible" (Observation, 10.10.19). Roger believes that an inquisitive classroom not only has to be free of judgement, but also has to be a place where students feel that they have the space to collaborate and be inquisitive together.

Encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts. Roger encouraged students to elaborate on their ideas as a way to help them solve problems on their own. For example, when

the Grade 10 Engineering students were struggling to figure out how their mechanisms would work, Roger said things such as: "How does it work? What's going to turn first?" (Observation, 10.1.19), "So how can we attach that piece to the fork?...Okay...using what?" (Observation, 10.29.19), "What could you do to use the same idea and still make it work?" (Observation, 10.24.19), and "What's the problem? Why would it never work?" (Observation, 10.1.19). As students answered these questions, they took the time to explain to Roger what they were thinking, which then resulted in them asking more questions in order to find the best solution to their problem. Instead of immediately jumping to give students answers, Roger asked them questions to get them to think and elaborate on their thoughts. Consequently, the students asked more questions as a result of thinking through their problems, explaining possible solutions, comparing and contrasting these ideas, to eventually arrive at the most feasible idea.

Roger also used elaboration as a strategy to better understand his students' thoughts. As his students were working on their projects, Roger would ask questions such as: "What do you mean? I want to understand what you're thinking" (Observation, 10.10.19), and "Why did you make that choice?" (Observation, 10.29.19). As students responded to his questions, they began asking themselves even more questions in order to reach a more complete and solid understanding of what it was they were working on. Roger wants his students to be able to explain things for themselves. He wants his students to answer the question "What does this [result] mean" by themselves (Interview, 11.18.19). By asking questions, Roger pressed on students' thinking resulting in students asking even more questions.

Giving students autonomy. Roger encouraged student autonomy in almost every class observed by having students work through every aspect of this project on their own. For example, during his classes, Roger encouraged students to figure out solutions to any issues they

encountered. He asked students to explain their ideas by saying things like, "Can you show me what that would look like?" or "That's a good question. How would you do it?" (Observation 10.1.19). Instead of telling students how he would solve their problem, Roger asked them to figure it out themselves. As students would use the materials to demonstrate what they meant, or as they tried to explain their questions, they would ask even more questions because they were working through these problems on their own. Furthermore, Roger believes that giving students autonomy can instill a sense of pride in them when they figure something out. Of this he said:

There is something about having a sense of pride that you were able to figure it out on your own. If you get [the answer] from the teacher, it's a bit detached. It's not like you discovered anything on your own. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Instead of giving students the answers, Roger encouraged students to work out their problems or find solutions on their own, as a way to encourage autonomy in the learning process.

Summary of the case of Roger. While Roger teaches many courses, classroom observations were only conducted in the Grade 10 Engineering course. This was a course where Roger felt a lot of freedom and flexibility in what he could do. Nonetheless, Roger still felt that his teaching practice was influenced by multiple factors. These factors include: the curriculum given to him, the need to prepare his students for CEGEP, and the need to prepare his students to take the ministry exam. Although affected by these factors, Roger believes that he can still find ways to make learning activities-based and hands-on, methods which he feels allow students to learn best. Furthermore, Roger used many different strategies to encourage inquisitiveness in the Engineering course including: making the learning interesting, modeling question asking, encouraging students to ask questions, refraining from judging students' contributions, encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts, and giving students autonomy.

The Case of Noah

Noah teaches Grade 7 Science and Technology, Grade 8 Science and Technology and Grade 11 Physics. Grade 7 and 8 students are required to take Science and Technology as part of their education program. Content covered in the Grade 7 course is added to and built upon in Grade 8. The Grade 11 Physics class consists of students who want to pursue science in CEGEP, and are therefore taking multiple science classes in their final year of secondary school.

Noah is a strong believer that all teaching should include some hands-on activities. Noah describes a typical class to consist of him going over notes then "reinforce[ing] that with some lab or simulation or some kind of activity" (Interview, 9.30.19). Noah also believes that some topics lend themselves more to hands-on activities than others. Of this, he said:

For some things, the topic lends itself more to doing more practical hands-on experiments. But I think you can at least do some kind of experimentation with everything. I mean even for Grade 7 space science, we do this moon lab where a student is sitting in a chair and they're spinning around and they have a meter stick with ball for the moon on it and then you can see it going through the different phases of the moon. So I think there's always opportunities for experimentation, or if not that, at least simulating an experiment. (Interview, 11.18.19)

Even when it is more difficult to do a hands-on learning activity, Noah feels that it is important to do some sort of simulation or activity for every topic to reinforce the learning.

Furthermore, Noah believes that science should not be taught through memorization. He explained this by saying, "I think [science teaching and class] should try to model what is actually done in the real world by scientists. Real scientists aren't sitting around just memorizing

the periodic table or something" (Interview, 11.18.19). Noah continued by explaining what he believes to be commonly occurring in Québec science classes. He said:

I think the way that science is sometimes taught is in a very rote manner where it's just memorization. I think that's the wrong way to do it. Especially teaching Grade 7, there are a lot of kids who come in and that's what they think science is. It's just like memorize a bunch of stuff about animals of Québec or whatever. (Interview, 11.18.19)

Instead of teaching through memorization, Noah is a firm believer that teachers should teach science in a way that models what scientists in the real world are doing in their day-to-day jobs.

Furthermore, rather than learning via memorization, Noah believes that students should engage in science via activities and experiment. He said, "I think really doing things, doing experiments on things, doing simulations when you can't do an experiment. Taking a participatory part of it I think is a big thing. So the student participation and engagement in science" (Interview, 11.18.19). Noah believes that students' participation in science is necessary for their engagement in science and that the way to achieve this engagement and participation is through hands-on activities and simulations.

Finally, Noah expressed that it is important to set the norm that students can be wrong and make mistakes. He justified this by discussing the classroom norms that he created for his classroom. These norms are posted on the wall for every student to see. Noah said:

The last class norm that I have is to be wrong sometimes. I expect [students] to be wrong sometimes. I expect [students] to make mistakes but learn from those mistakes. I expect [students] to say "I don't know" rather than just making something up. There are times when "I don't know" is the right answer. There are times when there isn't just one right

answer. When there could be multiple correct answers, or multiple answers that are all bad and [students] have to choose the least bad of them. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Noah includes making mistakes in his classroom norms because he believes that when students make mistakes, they are able to learn more and gain a better understanding for the future.

Noah believes that students are inquisitive when they ask a lot of questions. He said, "[Inquisitiveness is] getting them to ask those questions and to be invested and motivated in those questions" (Interview, 9.30.19). Furthermore, Noah believes that having students ask questions is intricately tied in with inquiry-based instruction. He said:

I always really encourage [question asking] which really ties with the whole inquiry-based learning. So I know sometimes I feel that I get a little too easily distracted when a student asks a good question that's sort of tangential to what we're talking about in class. But if it's like a good question then I kind of want to go down that path 'cause I think that's what science is all about. (Interview, 11.18.19)

Noah states that questions are tied to inquiry-based learning, and that they are the basis of what science is about, which is why he believes it is important to encourage questioning in his class.

Noah also believes that inquisitive students are active in the learning process. When asked what it means for students to be inquisitive, he said:

I think that it means that students should be engaged in the learning process in more than just a target for knowledge to stick to. Like it shouldn't just be me spewing out information and them just receiving it. They should be not passive like that. (Interview, 9.30.19)

He added, "They should be an active partner in the learning so that they are asking questions, trying to figure things out on their own, or in a group work kind of setting" (Interview, 9.30.19).

According to Noah, students are inquisitive when they are fully engaged in the learning process, not just listening to the teacher tell them information to remember.

Noah's ideal classroom would involve students asking questions and figuring things out. He said:

I think that being able to have that opportunity to ask questions and then to try to figure out answers other than just googling it, like let's try to do an experiment and figure that out. I guess my golden rule is two parts if I have to sum it up. Being able to ask questions and being able to do something to try to find the answer. (Interview, 11.18.19)

Noah believes that it is important that students work to figure answers out on their own and problem solve by doing experiments. By doing so, students will remain inquisitive in science class.

Factors influencing Noah's teaching practice. Noah reflected on different factors that influence his teaching practice. These factors include: the mandated curriculum given to him at The Ocean School, the necessity to prepare his students for the next level of education, and the focus on preparing students for standardized exams.

Meeting the goals of a mandated curriculum. Noah believes that the curriculum mandated by the Québec government sets targets for him to meet in his courses, however, Noah feels less pressured by the curriculum for his Grade 7 and 8 Science and Technology classes. In these classes, Noah feels more freedom because his students will continue to build upon these concepts as they move through their secondary school career. He elaborated:

[Grade 7 and 8 science teachers] don't have to follow a certain textbook, or be teaching this lesson on that day, so a lot of it is just generated by ourselves, just to make sure that

we meet those final goals [set by the curriculum]...How you go into those concepts is up to each teacher because we're not beholden to a specific textbook. (Interview, 9.30.19)

As the curriculum is less specific in the younger grades regarding how the material should be covered and when, Noah feels more freedom and flexibility in his teaching practice for the Grades 7 and 8 courses.

Noah believes that the mandated curriculum makes it more difficult to implement inquiry-based learning in his courses. He feels that the student-centered aspect of inquiry-based instruction proves challenging for teachers to meet curricular goals. He said, "So I think like full 100% inquiry, with the students actually driving the curriculum, might be a little hard to do in the classroom because we have a curriculum we gotta be aiming towards" (Interview, 9.30.19). Therefore, as inquiry-based learning has the potential to take away from teaching the mandated curriculum, Noah feels that he has to limit the amount of inquiry that he can incorporate into his lessons. Noah believes that the curriculum has an impact on how much inquiry he can incorporate into his classroom because he believes that inquiry can take away from teaching the mandated curriculum.

Preparing students for the next level of education. In addition to teaching Grades 7 and 8 Science and Technology, Noah also teaches one section of Grade 11 Physics, and he reflected on feeling the pressure to prepare his students to succeed in CEGEP and university. He believes that preparing his students for CEGEP and university takes time away from his ability to go indepth on topics of his choice or stifles his ability to do other activities. For example, Noah said:

Of course for something like Grade 11 Physics, there's the added stipulation that we have to make sure that we're preparing them for CEGEP and university programs, so whereas in Grade 7 and 8 I have a bit more flexibility, I can spend more time on space and less

time on something else, but in Grade 11 I've got to make sure that they've got all the basics that they need for their future science courses. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Noah feels limited in what he can do in his Grade 11 Physics course, as he is responsible for preparing his students for future science courses in CEGEP and university.

Preparing students for standardized exams. During this study, Noah did not teach a science course that prepared students to take a ministry exam, but he reflected on the one year that he taught Grade 10 Science and Technology and the pressures that this exam caused him to feel. He Noah said:

I think [the QEP is] a bit more strict in Grade 10 because that's the only science course where there's a ministry exam and then like, you have to be using the exact terminology that the ministry uses. Even if you understand the concepts, if you don't use the exact same words and some of the words are counterintuitive there, then that could penalize [a student] in the final exam which counts for a lot of [their] grade. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Not only does Noah feel that the ministry exam impacts the content covered in Grade 10, but he also notes how this high-stake exam can influence the words that teachers use in their teaching practice, in order to set their students up for success on this exam.

Noah also believes that the ministry exam gives teachers less time for "quality learning" and impacts how teachers teach because of the quantity of material that they have to fit in (Interview, 11.18.19). Specifically, Noah feels that the standardized exams take away from the teacher's ability to teach in more meaningful ways, especially through pedagogies like inquiry-based instruction. Of this, Noah said:

I do feel that [the ministry] exam at the end does sort of take away from a teacher's ability to do more in depth inquiry-based learning because by necessity you're sort of teaching to the test. You can have some inquiry-based stuff that targets that, but a lot of those standardized exams I think are going to be fairly multiple choice, memorize the answer kind of situations. I'm not a huge fan of standardized testing, but it's a necessity in some courses. (Interview, 11.18.19)

The ministry exam highly impacts what Noah feels Grade 10 teachers can do in the classroom because of the amount of content to be covered, as well as the limited amount of time that teachers have to cover the content. As a result, he feels that these exams limit his ability to implement teaching techniques that would produce quality learning, such as inquiry-based instruction.

Strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness. Noah used many strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness in his classroom. These include: making the learning interesting, modeling question asking, encouraging students to ask questions, refraining from judging students' contributions, encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts, and giving students autonomy.

Making the learning interesting. Noah made the learning interesting for his students in different ways which engaged students and prompted question asking in his courses. He did so by making connections to the real world and by giving students different representation forms to explore the science content.

Noah's Grade 8 classes on renewable and non-renewable energy resources were full of rich discussions and questions from students, as Noah made many connections to the real world. These topics created a lot of discussion in the class and between students as students were able to relate to the content. Questions arose when Noah brought up greenhouse gases, the difference between fog and smog, when he asked students to determine the pros and cons of renewable and

nonrenewable energy resources, and when he brought up the creation of fossil fuels. Yet, even more questions arose when Noah began discussing real-world problems with his students. Discussions involved topics such as: heavy metals, mining and the damage that it is doing to Alaska and Antarctica, the pros and cons of nuclear reactors, how wind turbines and hydro dams work, how solar panels are used, and what technologies could exist in the future. Noah increased discussion and inquisitiveness in his classroom by bringing up "big issues, global issues" that seemed to grab students' attention (Observation, 10.2.19).

Noah did his best to make his classes relatable to his students' lives in order to encourage inquisitiveness. He believes that students find it more interesting when science interacts with society and influences their lives, which in turn, causes them to ask more questions. For example, Noah explained:

When science intersects with society there are a lot of things that are not straight forward answers. So that's why I think it's a good reason to discuss those things and debate those things and look at all of the different sides of it. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Therefore, because the interactions of science with society can have so many different sides to the story, it becomes an interesting discussion and debate for the students and causes them to ask many questions. This point was evidenced in a few classes, for example, content related to renewable and non-renewable energy sources in his Grade 8 classes, and content related to space science in his Grade 7 classes. Students seemed to know about these topics not just from science class, but from the media, news sources, and daily conversations which fostered more interest in the topics.

Noah believes that when topics are related to students' lives, students become more interested and ask more questions. He said:

[Student inquisitiveness] is totally based on student interest...That engagement is I think one of the key things for inquiry. It has to be something that engages them so that's why I try to pick things that influence their real lives. (Interview, 9.30.19)

In order to further elaborate on this point, Noah described a debate project that he assigns to his students, based on artificial sweeteners. For the purpose of this project, students were each given one artificial sweetener that they needed to research in order to learn more about the pros and cons of their sweetener. At the end of the research, students engaged in a debate where they tried to decide which artificial sweetener was the best and the one that should continue to be used. Noah believes that this activity was easily relatable to students' lives, as these artificial sweeteners were ones that his students see in many of the candies and foods that they eat. As these were topics that students could relate to, they asked many questions to enhance their understanding of the concepts. Therefore, by choosing content and assigning projects that students can relate to their own lives, Noah believes that students will be more engaged and ask more questions.

In addition to grabbing students' interest through real-world contexts that were relatable to students' lives, Noah made the learning interesting by bringing up more abstract topics, such as space science, which also generated discussion and questioning. While space science is still a real-world topic, it is one that is much less tangible for students, making it appear much more abstract and foreign, yet equally fascinating. For example, one abstract topic that Noah had the students explore was about how people experience time in different ways on different planets. Noah explained that people travelling in space would have thought that five years had passed, whereas people on Earth would have thought that ten years had passed. This resulted in many questions and elaboration on both the students' and Noah's part. Students were very interested in

knowing why time is experienced differently on different planets and began asking questions about what would happen if they traveled to another planet and left their family and friends on Earth. This was an abstract discussion as students had never experienced the phenomenon being discussed and had no connections to anyone who had, or to any similar experience. This led to another discussion about the length of years on Earth compared to other planets. This topic brought up many questions about leap years and how they factor into measuring Earth years and then a general discussion about how years are calculated on different planets when compared to on Earth. Noah started discussions using abstract content that prompted much interest and curiosity in his students, resulting in many questions from his students.

In addition to making the content relatable to students' lives and introducing abstract topics, Noah used different representation forms through which students could explore science content. One such representation form was videos. Noah used videos to spark interest and questions with his students. For example, in his physics class, he showed a Mythbusters video that included kinematics concepts that had been discussed in previous classes. This video showed a car going off of an elevated jump and flying through the air, which prompted questions about what would happen if the car were lighter, going faster, or if the jump was not elevated as much. As another example, in Noah's Grade 7 class, he showed a video of a meteor hitting a town in Russia, which prompted many questions about what students saw in the video and about meteors striking the Earth. Students wanted to know what their experience would be like if a meteor struck the Earth near them and they were curious to know why meteors can even strike Earth in the first place. During another lesson in his Grade 7 class, Noah showed a video on the Earth's moon which led to a discussion and many questions about the tides, gravity, and if the moon could ever become a planet. Additional examples of Noah's use of video occurred in his Grade 8

class when he showed videos about the history of fossil fuels, the different types of hydro dams and solar power. Students were asking questions about how scientists made the move to renewable energy such as hydro and solar power and wanted to know more about how they work to generate energy.

Noah's use of videos aligns well with why he likes to show his students videos. He believes that videos have the potential to grab students' interest and promote question-asking. Noah said:

I started doing this thing where, at the beginning of class, I usually start off with a video, for a few reasons. Usually the video is connected to what we're learning in class, just to get them more interested in it because sometimes seeing a flashy video will get them more curious about something or get them more interested in something, as opposed to just seeing it on a handout or notes... And if it is related to the topic, hopefully it gets them interested in that topic and gets them asking questions, inquiring about that topic (Interview, 9.30.19)

Noah's beliefs aligned with his actions in class, as he shows videos to encourage question-asking and discussion, and his decision to show videos seemed to have the intended effect on the students, as they allowed for students to ask many questions.

Another representation form that Noah used to make the learning interesting was interactive websites. These websites were used to spark curiosity and questioning in his students. For example, in his Grade 7 class, Noah asked students to explore a Solar System Scope website² to help them determine the length of a year on different planets. This online model of the Solar System allows students to manipulate different planets with their track pads, interact with

² https://www.solarsystemscope.com/

planets' rotational periods compared to other planets, and access information such as the planet's structure, composition and temperature by clicking on different hyperlinks. The visuals on this website and the students' exploration led to questions and discussions about different planets as well as the sun. This interactive nature of the website allowed the students to be active in the learning process, therefore providing more opportunities for questions and discussions. Noah's use of interactive websites allowed his students to interact with the science content in ways that engaged them and allowed them to ask questions.

Modeling question asking. By modeling question asking, Noah encouraged inquisitiveness amongst his students as he demonstrated which types of questions they could be asking. Of this, Noah said, "I encourage questions but I guess I only lead by example, like giving them questions that we are going to be addressing and they see different ways of asking questions" (Interview, 11.18.19). Therefore, in leading by example, Noah implicitly modeled question asking for his students, encouraging them to ask questions in different ways.

Noah also asked questions that allowed students to think about the bigger picture of what they were learning. In a class about fossil fuels, Noah posed the question, "Why do you think so much of the world uses fossil fuels?" (Observation, 10.2.19). By asking such a question, Noah gave his students the opportunity to connect their class learning to a bigger picture about the world and why so many people and nations use fossil fuels. As a result, students began asking more questions about fossil fuels and how they could convince more people to invest in renewable energy. Noah modeled questions that relate to the bigger picture, to encourage his students to do so as well, and to demonstrate what types of questions his students can ask.

Explicitly encouraging students to ask questions. Noah encouraged students to ask questions, especially in times when he felt that students might have questions to ask. For

example, in these moments, he would say, "Oh did [you] have a question?" (Observation, 10.2.19). Furthermore, Noah offered words of encouragement to motivate students to continue asking questions, so as not to shut down their question asking. For example, in one class Noah said, "A lot of you are asking questions about this which is good!" (Observation, 10.7.19). By using these phrases, Noah demonstrated to his students that they should continue asking questions because their questions are contributing to the class in positive ways.

Refraining from judging students' contributions. Noah was very supportive of his students who asked questions, which in turn, prompted more question asking. When students asked questions, Noah responded with statements such as, "Yeah that's a good question... I don't actually know that" (Observation, 10.2.19) and "That's a very good question" (Observation, 10.7.19). In one instance, a student asked a question about the history of fossil fuels. As Noah did not know the answer to the question on the spot, he followed up on the student's question in the next class. Noah answered his student's question by explaining that he found a video to help him answer the question. He said, "Someone asked a question last time about the history of fossil fuels so I found a video that talks a bit about the history" (Observation, 10.7.19). By responding to his students' questions in these ways, Noah demonstrated to students that any question is accepted and will not be judged in the hopes that this would open up the floor for them to ask more questions. Furthermore, even when he did not know the answer to a question, Noah did not shut the question asking down, but instead, indicated that research needed to be done to figure out the answer, or came to the following class having figured out how he could help answer the students' questions.

Encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts. Noah found different ways to encourage students to elaborate on their thoughts in order to encourage further questioning and learning. He elaborated on this thought:

Instant gratification of knowing you have the right answer isn't going to lead to as much learning compared to if you have to think about why you have the right answer, what's the reason that answer is right...[the students] justify it to themselves. (Interview, 11.18.19)

By asking students to justify their thoughts, he feels that he avoids the possibility of he, the teacher, "shut[ing] down [the] inquiry" (Interview, 9.30.19). Noah gave an example of a scenario in his Grade 8 science class to further illustrate this point. He said:

One student had an example of a person as a simple machine and then others were like well no a person isn't a machine. So, I asked them all "Why would you say that, how would you justify it?" And they would say well people have different parts that have different functions and they use energy. So, it was an interesting way to get to the end goal of having a definition of what a machine is. By having ideas up there, some that could be right and some that could be wrong and going through those and discussing them as a class and trying to get to a final consensus about what it is. (Interview, 11.18.19)

During this discussion about humans as simple machines, Noah pressed his students to explain their thoughts in order to help all students grapple with the points being made, and ultimately come to a consensus understanding about the comparison being made. In order to encourage student inquisitiveness, Noah asked his students to elaborate on their thoughts, which allowed them to further question and justify their thoughts and ideas.

Giving students autonomy. Noah gave students different opportunities to be autonomous in his classes, as a way to encourage student inquisitiveness. One way in which he did so was by asking students to solve problems on their own, without his help. For example, Noah gave his Grade 8 students a list of facts about renewable energy sources then had them determine the pros and cons of those energy sources. He said, "I haven't told you which ones are pros and which ones are cons. It's up to you to figure that out" (Observation 10.2.19). Instead of telling students the answers, Noah gave them the task of figuring them out.

Another way that Noah encouraged autonomy was by giving students individual research projects. For example, Noah planned a debate project where the students were assigned a country on which they would be an expert. The project asked students to research their assigned country's energy production and usage, in order to prepare them to hold a United Nations (U.N.) type conference at the end. When introducing this project Noah said:

We are going to hold a U.N. type debate where you will be presenting about how your countries use energy, and you will be given a challenge and your countries will debate and try to figure out a way to solve the challenge as a global community. (Observation 10.9.19)

While preparing for the debate, students had many questions about their countries' uses of energy. When students tried to ask Noah for help, he encouraged them to be autonomous, which provided further opportunities for student inquisitiveness. Therefore, students acted autonomously in trying to solve the problems that emerged in class and during their research, which encouraged inquisitiveness.

Furthermore, Noah fostered autonomy by encouraging his students to work together in pairs or groups when they were struggling. For example, while completing the pro and con

activity, one student had a question. Noah responded to the student by saying: "Well that's why I want you guys to discuss [in your groups]" (Observation 10.2.19). As a result, students worked together, without Noah's help, asking questions to help them determine the best solution to the problem they were given.

Noah was conscious about explicitly asking his students to collaborate. Noah encouraged this collaboration because he thought that his students would "understand [a concept] more, if they worked towards [an understanding] together instead of just hearing [an answer from the teacher]" (Interview, 9.30.19). As students collaborated on the pro and con activity they asked each other questions and problem solved before turning to Noah to get the answer. By encouraging students to collaborate with each other, Noah gave the students autonomy and put the work of figuring things out and asking questions on the students themselves.

Noah believes that giving students autonomy increases opportunities for inquisitiveness.

When asked why he thought group work encouraged opportunities for student inquisitiveness,

Noah said:

I might be like "Okay, you think that, any other ideas, now which of those ideas are correct?" And I get them to discuss it, again getting them to think about it more before I confirm which one is the right answer. Because, if I do that, then that kind of shuts down any inquiry. (Interview, 9.30.19)

Therefore, Noah believes that collaboration is a necessary component of student inquisitiveness, as it gets students to think, discuss and come to conclusions on their own, without the thoughts or opinions of the teacher influencing their thought processes and questions.

Summary of the case of Noah. Noah is a strong believer in making learning as relatable and hands-on for students and tries his best to do so in every class. In his Grade 7 and 8 Science

and Technology classes, Noah feels that he has the flexibility to do what he wants, while finding ways to meet the requirements of the Progression of Learning. As a result, classroom observations demonstrate how Noah used different strategies to encourage inquisitiveness in his class. These strategies included: making the learning interesting, modeling question asking, refraining from judging students' contributions, encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts, and giving students autonomy. Finally, Noah worked hard to grab his students' interest and attention by including interesting discussions and assignments in his curriculum. He believes that these are the best ways in which to encourage students to be inquisitive.

Chapter 5: Discussion

This research study focuses on the ways in which science teachers can encourage student inquisitiveness in their courses, while also taking into account the factors that influence their teaching practice. Ultimately, by performing this study, I hope to gain insight on how to encourage student inquisitiveness in my own science class as a steppingstone towards inquiry-based instruction. In this chapter, I describe how the findings from the cases of Lilian, Roger and Noah, as well as how information gathered in the literature review, answer the research questions posed in Chapter 1.

Discussion of Each Research Question

Question 1: What factors influence how these teachers teach and in what ways?

There are different factors that exist that influence how teachers teach. While these factors may differ in different school contexts, there were three main factors that influence teachers at The Ocean School. These factors include: meeting the goals of mandated curriculum, preparing students for the next level of education and preparing students to take standardized exams.

Meeting the goals of the mandated curriculum. As teachers at a secondary school in Québec, all three participants in this study had to meet the goals prescribed to them by the mandated provincial curriculum. The goals they had to meet, and the flexibility they felt within this curriculum, varied between teachers.

All three teachers participating in this study felt that the Québec Educational Program (QEP) and the Progression of Learning influenced their teaching practices, as these documents dictate the content that needs to be covered in a school year. The participants agreed that the curriculum they were required to follow in a school year can be very prescriptive. They all

agreed that they must adhere to a specific curriculum, which took away opportunities for them to go into depth on topics that they find interesting, important, or ones that they care about. While all three teachers in this study agreed that the mandated curriculum can be quite restrictive, some specified that they felt less pressure from the curriculum in the younger grades.

The participants who taught younger students, Grades 7 and 8, felt that they had more flexibility in teaching towards the mandated curriculum. Specifically, although Roger and Noah taught all grade levels, they felt less constricted by the mandated curriculum in Grades 7 and 8 as there are fewer topics to cover. Furthermore, the progressive nature of the topics covered in these grades, meaning they will be revisited in future grades, allowed the teachers to feel more freedom to focus on what they deemed as important for their students to learn. Because the mandated QEP and Progression of Learning do not prescribe as much content to be covered in Grades 7 and 8, teachers felt more freedom to vary their teaching practice, as well as to cover more content that they choose.

When teachers are required to adhere to a specific curriculum, they feel the impacts of this curriculum on their teaching practice. The extent to which the teachers in this study felt the impacts differed depending on the grades they teach. These sentiments are consistent with Hurley (2004), Osborn et al. (2000) and Schweisfurth (2006). Specifically, teaching towards a mandated curriculum results in teachers feeling unable to teach towards their interests or passions (Hurley, 2004), as well as preventing them from implementing new pedagogies (Osborn et al., 2000) because of the pressure they feel to help their students succeed in reaching the goals set by the curriculum (Schweisfurth, 2006). Findings from this study suggest that teachers who teach younger students feel that they have more flexibility with the mandated curriculum, while those who teach older students feel that with increased content to cover, and little time, they need

to follow the guidelines in order to help their students succeed. It would be interesting to consider how teachers find ways to make connections to content about which they are passionate, while still managing to meet the goals of the mandated curriculum.

Preparing students for the next level of education. In addition to meeting requirements set by the mandated curriculum, the teachers participating in this study were also aware of their job to prepare students for the next level of education. All three teachers agreed that the pressure to prepare their students for CEGEP and university impacted their teaching practice. They felt this pressure as an obligation to prepare students for future science courses. More specifically, they felt that in order to adequately prepare their students, they should cover as much content as possible, while also being aware that it was essential that their students understand the material being covered. Furthermore, the pressures associated with preparing students for the next level of education, impacted how the teachers participating in this study delivered the content they were required to teach. For example, while Noah would have like to vary his teaching methods in his Physics class, he felt that he was unable to do so, and expressed that the stress of preparing students for the next level of education suppressed his ability, or willingness, to give a variety of activities in class.

Many teachers are required to prepare their students for the next level of education. As a result, these teachers may feel limited in what they can do in their classrooms because they feel pressured to do what is deemed best to prepare students for the next step. For many teachers, what is best is to strictly follow the curriculum given to them, even if covering a wide range of topics goes against their beliefs. Similar to findings by Schwartz et al. (2008), the teachers in this study attempted to balance depth and breadth, along with understanding. While some teachers believed it was better to focus on breadth, others believed that depth was more important when

preparing students for university and future science courses (Schwartz et al., 2008). For example, Lilian grappled with covering as much content as possible while also making sure to consider if her students understood what was going on. Therefore, it is important to consider how teachers' awareness of preparing students to enter the next level of education influences what they do in the classroom. Furthermore, it is interesting to consider if this type of teaching takes away from the possibility for meaningful learning in the classroom.

Preparing students for standardized exams. A third factor to consider when examining teachers' practices is the requirement for some teachers to prepare their students to take standardized exams. In the cases presented in this thesis, both Lilian and Roger were preparing their Grade 10 students to take a ministry exam, while Noah had one year of experience of teaching the Grade 10 science class. The teachers experienced the pressures of preparing their students for standardized exams in slightly different ways.

Both Lilian and Noah felt that the need to prepare their students to take the ministry exam greatly impacted their teaching practice. They felt the pressure of adequately preparing their students to succeed on this exam, which impacted how they organized their classroom activities. For example, Lilian felt that it was important to give students individual work, such as quizzes and tests, in order to give them assessments that were similar in format as the ministry exam. Noah felt that he was limited in terms of how much inquiry he could incorporate into his classroom activities, as this was not how students would be assessed on the ministry exam. Lilian and Noah taught in ways that they believe would enable their students to perform well on the exam, even if these methods went against their teaching beliefs. In these two cases, the ministry exam weighed heavily on the teachers and altered their teaching methods because of the strong pressure they felt to enable their students to succeed.

Roger felt slightly less restricted by the ministry exam than Lilian and Noah. While he recognized that his students should be prepared to take the exam, he expressed that he still tried to find ways in which to make this learning for the exam more fun. He recognized the importance of covering all of the topics mandated by the government, but even so, felt that he could change up his teaching methods and still meet these goals. There is the possibility that Roger would feel comfortable teaching his Grade 10 course using a reform-based pedagogy, such as inquiry-based instruction, even while preparing his students to take a ministry exam. It is interesting to consider what further support and guidance he would need to do so.

While most teachers are subject to follow a mandated curriculum some also have to use this curriculum to prepare their students to take standardized exams. As a result, teachers may feel great pressure to meet the requirements of these exams and teach in ways which will help their students succeed. Similar to findings from Boyd (2010), the teachers participating in this study felt that they were highly accountable for their students' performance on the ministry exam, and wanted to be sure that they taught and assessed their students in ways that mimicked what they would see on the exam. Furthermore, this focus on preparing students to take standardized exams can "sideline reform efforts in education" (Anderson, 2011, p. 117). The case of Lilian demonstrates that the pressure to prepare students to take the ministry exam may have possibly prevented her from implementing reform pedagogies such as inquiry-based instruction, out of fear that she would prevent her students from succeeding on the exam. It is interesting to consider how teaching in other ways, for example, by using inquiry-based instruction, could impact students' scores on standardized exams such as the ministry exam required of students taking Grade 10 Science and Technology in Québec.

Summary of Question 1. Teachers participating in this study felt that different factors such as curriculum, preparing students for the next level of education, and preparing students to take standardized exams, influenced their teaching practice. The weight they felt from these different factors ultimately depended on the courses that they were teaching. Lilian's teaching practice was impacted the most by these factors as she only taught upper level courses. She felt especially constricted by her job to prepare her Grade 10 students to take the Québec ministry exam at the end of the year. As a result, she made sure that her teaching practice, as well as the assessments that she gave her students, mimicked what they would see on the exam. Roger and Noah, who, in addition to teaching upper level courses also taught Grades 7 and 8, felt that their teaching practice was slightly less impacted by these factors. While they recognized that they must meet the goals set by the QEP, they felt that they had more flexibility in how they taught the content to their students. Furthermore, Roger and Noah felt more freedom to try to implement different teaching practices in their courses, such as inquiry-based instruction.

Findings suggest that no matter what courses teachers teach, they will in some way be impacted by factors of which they have no control over. The extent to which teachers feel the impact of these factors may be related to which courses they teach. Findings from this study suggest that teachers who teach across levels, for example Grades 7-11, feel the impacts from these factors less than teachers who teach only upper level grades.

Question 2: What teaching strategies do these teachers use to encourage student inquisitiveness and why do they use these strategies?

Different researchers have proposed many strategies that teachers can use to encourage student inquisitiveness. These strategies include: giving students time before and during activities to ask questions, making the learning interesting, giving students question words and

starters to help them form their questions, modeling question asking, explicitly encouraging students to ask questions, refraining from judging students who contribute, asking students to record their questions, using a question board to publicly record all student questions, encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts, and encouraging student autonomy.

The cases of Lilian, Roger and Noah demonstrate the use of some of these different strategies in the classroom, as well as why these teachers choose to use specific strategies for student inquisitiveness. All three teachers used most of the strategies described above, but to varying degrees.

Making the learning interesting. Lilian, Roger, and Noah each found ways to make the learning interesting for their students, which prompted further questioning. They did so by giving students different representation forms to explore science content and by making connections to the real-world.

Lilian and Noah both provided their students with interesting representation forms to explore science content, ultimately resulting in rich discussions taking place in class, as well as in questions from their students. For example, both Lilian and Noah used videos as a means to allow students to explore science content in a different way. As Noah explained, videos are useful as they capture students' attention and interest in a different way than a lecture might do. In addition to videos, both Lilian and Noah used different visuals to gain their students' interest. Lilian used images, while Noah used interactive websites, which gave students different means to explore the content being covered. The use of videos and other visuals were valuable representation forms to promote questioning in both Lilian and Noah's courses.

Another useful approach that resulted in many questions was Noah's effort to connect classroom content to real-world topics. As a result, students were immediately engaged,

discussing with one another and asking many questions. These connections to the real world were made during in-class discussions and were also made through different assignments that Noah assigned. Students demonstrated engagement, were invested in discussions, and asked questions because they were able to relate to the content.

Similar to Lilian and Noah, Roger also gave his students different representation forms to explore science content; however, these representation forms came in the form of physical materials and manipulation of those materials. Instead of telling students how they could manipulate different tools in the workshop to achieve their desired results, Roger provided the space for students to explore these tools and materials on their own. As a result, students asked questions, discussed with one another, and continued their exploration until they found the best solution to their problems. The use of physical materials was a useful context for students to explore science content, ultimately resulting in questioning.

While Lilian, Noah and Roger found different ways to make the learning interesting for students, all methods were successful in promoting question asking from students. These methods allowed for student questioning as students were surprised, engaged and wanted to know more (Biddulph et al., 1986; Chin, 2002). Furthermore, findings suggest that it was beneficial when the teachers connected the learning to the real world, as students were able to see the influence of classroom science content in their own lives (Hampden-Thompson & Bennett, 2013; Harmer & Cates, 2008; Jocz et al., 2014; Stroupe, 2014; Tan & Seah, 2011; van Zhee et al., 2000). Indeed, all three teachers made the learning interesting for their students in different ways, which resulted in questioning from their students.

Modeling question asking. Lilian, Roger and Noah modeled question asking by demonstrating to students how they could use questions to move further in their projects or

understanding of a concept. For example, Lilian and Noah modeled questions that showed students the importance of thinking about the bigger picture of what was being studied or discussed. Roger reflected on the importance of modeling questions that allowed students to think about why they are getting certain results, as he believed it was important that students are constantly asking themselves these questions to move further along in their understanding. By modeling these types of questions, the teachers participating in this study provided their students with insight into what types of questions they can be asking themselves.

Additionally, Lilian modeled questions that can be asked simply out of curiosity. She showed students that even when a question is different from what they are "required" to do, these types of curiosity questions are still useful and should be asked in the classroom. Therefore, by modeling curiosity-type questions for her students, Lilian hoped that her students would follow suit and ask similar questions and be equally curious.

The teachers participating in this study found different ways to model question asking. In order to support their students in being inquisitive the teachers modeled how questions can be asked and the results that these different types of questions can produce (Biddulph et al., 1986; Chin, 2002). By modeling question asking, the teachers also established the norm that questions should be asked during class, as they, the teachers, were asking many questions themselves (Chin & Osborne, 2008). Lilian, Roger and Noah modeled questions in different ways, therefore providing their students with different question asking tools to use in the future.

Explicitly encouraging students to ask questions. Roger explicitly encouraged his students to ask questions by making it a course requirement that they do so. For example, during student presentations of their forklift models, Roger required the audience to ask questions and reminded them that they would be evaluated on their question asking during the presentations.

Roger made it a requirement that his students ask questions because he believed that it was important that all students were involved in helping each other move further along in their projects. By asking students to ask each other questions about their individual projects, all members of the class became actively engaged in the learning process. Furthermore, Roger made sure to remind students that they should ask questions, not only because doing so was part of their final mark, but because when they are confused about something, or want to know more, asking questions is one way in which to further their understanding. By explicitly having students ask questions, Roger made it the expectation that questions should be asked, and that, indeed, questions are required during class.

Unlike Roger, Noah did not make it a course requirement that students ask questions, but instead paid attention to students' body language, especially in times when students may have had more questions. In doing so, Noah was able to recognize when a student had a question and called on that student to ask their question. Furthermore, even when their body language did not suggest that they had a question to ask, Noah reminded students that asking questions is a good thing to do in class. As a result, Noah explicitly encouraged his students to ask questions.

Both Roger and Noah found different ways to encourage their students to ask questions. Their choices in how they encouraged students to ask questions are consistent with Chin (2002), who explained that it is important to find ways to explicitly ask students to ask questions. As Chin (2002) described, both Roger and Noah found times to ask their students, directly, what questions they may have before moving on, which provided them with opportunities, and encouraged them, to ask questions during class. It is interesting to consider how Roger and Noah used their students' body language as a clue into when they had questions. As Wells (2017) found, students' body language can tell a teacher a lot about what students do and do not

understand. When students understand something, their body language and gestures become much bigger and more animated, as they feel more confident with the material. In this sense, teachers can stand back while students work while still being able to observe the learning taking place (Wells, 2017). Therefore, Roger and Noah's students' body language may have signaled that they did in fact have questions, which led these teachers to encourage their students to ask their questions.

Refraining from judging students' contributions. Roger and Noah both found ways to refrain from judging their students' contributions and questions in class. Both teachers never shut down their students' questions or contributions and instead helped students realize that their contributions were valuable to the rest of the class. Roger explained that it is important that students feel safe in the classroom environment to ask questions, because all students should feel able to add to the discussions taking place, and should never be afraid to ask a question.

Furthermore, even when the teachers did not immediately have the answer to the question, they reassured their students that they would find the answers together or in subsequent classes. By refraining from judging students' contributions, and by accepting all questions, Roger and Noah worked to promote a question-asking environment in their respective classrooms.

In order to encourage inquisitiveness in the classroom, teachers should be aware of the ways in which they respond to students' questions and contributions, making sure that they refrain from judging their students. Instead of judging what their students have to say, and possibly limiting question-asking, Roger and Noah received students' questions and contributions with "sensitivity and enthusiasm" (Chin, 2002, p. 63). Furthermore, by maintaining a positive attitude with all contributions and questions, these teachers demonstrated to their students that their ideas and questions were more than welcome in the class and that they were

happy to hear these ideas being shared (Chin, 2004). As Stroupe (2014) found, when teachers refrained from judging their students' contributions, students were more likely to share their ideas and ask questions, compared to students whose contributions were evaluated as right or wrong. Therefore, by establishing a positive classroom atmosphere, and by receiving all student ideas and questions without judgement, Roger and Noah worked to encourage inquisitiveness in their classrooms.

Encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts. Lilian, Noah, and Roger found ways to encourage students to elaborate on their thoughts, providing them with opportunities to reason through their thinking and ask more questions. The teachers used elaboration as a tool to determine what students were thinking and to help their students problem solve and reach an understanding of the content being discussed or of the task at hand. Lilian, Roger and Noah pressed their students' thinking in order to encourage them to think more about something and arrive at an understanding on their own, instead of being given the answer. Furthermore, by pressing on their students' thoughts, the teachers provided their students with opportunities to ask questions about what it was they were explaining. Noah believed that elaboration is an important tool to use in the classroom as it can encourage further questioning and increase student learning. By pressing on their students' thoughts and encouraging them to elaborate, not only did the three teachers gain insight into their students' thinking, but they also demonstrated what their students can do to ask more questions.

Providing students with the opportunity to elaborate on their own thoughts or questions, can increase their potential for inquisitiveness in the classroom (Chin & Osborne, 2008).

Furthermore, elaboration can increase classroom talk and debate amongst students, providing others with the opportunity to ask their own questions (Chin & Osborne, 2008). All three

teachers participating in this study found ways to encourage their students to elaborate on their thoughts, their ideas and their questions. Specifically, teachers in this study pressed students on their contributions to have them elaborate on their thoughts. Windschitl et al., (2012) and Hlas and Hlas (2012) both suggested that pressing on students' thinking provides more opportunities for elaboration and subsequent questioning and reasoning. Chin and Osborne (2008) found that by engaging in elaboration dialogue, students were able to build more connections between ideas and their questions, and they, as well as the teacher, were able to evaluate their understanding of an idea or concept. By encouraging their students to elaborate on their thoughts, Lilian, Roger, and Noah encouraged their students to work towards an understanding of a concept, which, in some cases, prompted further questioning.

Giving students autonomy. Participating teachers found different ways to encourage student autonomy in their courses in order to provide students with opportunities to be inquisitive in science class. To do so, the teachers found ways to encourage their students to work without their help. Lilian, Roger, and Noah also encouraged students to work with their peers and found ways to guide their students without giving them answers and instead asked them how they would solve the problem on their own. As a result of being asked to do things autonomously, students consulted and bounced ideas and questions off of one another. Noah expressed that it is important to encourage students to work independently from the teacher because autonomous work leads to a stronger understanding of the content as well as possibilities for more inquiry in the classroom. By encouraging their students to work with their peers, the teachers gave their students opportunities to ask each other questions and to work together to find an answer, before asking the teacher for help or confirmation.

Teachers can encourage autonomy by being less prescriptive in what they ask their students to do (Dunlop et al., 2013; Vorholzer et al., 2018), giving students choice in activities (Schutte & Malouff, 2019), and by encouraging students to solve problems, without the help of the teacher (Chin, 2002). Furthermore, encouraging students to work with one another can be used as a means to encourage students to solve problems on their own as well as a way to increase motivation amongst students (Chin & Kayalvizhi, 2007). Group work is an important factor in encouraging student inquisitiveness as it allows students to work together, ask each other questions, challenge each other's ideas and reach shared understandings through their collaboration (Woods-McConney et al., 2016). Lilian, Roger and Noah all found ways to encourage their students to be autonomous and usually pressed their students to figure things out on their own, or in collaboration with their peers, before they, the teachers, interjected to help. As a result, these teachers encouraged inquisitiveness in their students by having them try to reach an understanding on their own.

By allowing them to be autonomous in the classroom, teachers provide students with opportunities to ask questions and solve problems independently, which increases the potential for student engagement, curiosity and interest in science (Dunlop et al., 2013; Jocz et al., 2014; Schutte & Malouff, 2019). Indeed, teachers in this study encouraged autonomy in their classes by asking students to solve problems, or figure things out, on their own. As was also discussed by Dunlop et al. (2013), findings suggest that teachers will refrain from prescribing a certain answer or method to their students, and instead ask them to figure it out on their own. As a result of their teachers' actions, students seemed to ask questions because of curiosity and a desire to find the answer, or to know more, echoing findings in the extant literature (Schutte & Malouff,

2019; Stefanou et al., 2004). By asking students to work autonomously, the teachers participating in this study encouraged inquisitiveness in their classrooms.

Summary of Question 2. There are many different strategies that exist to encourage student inquisitiveness in the classroom. These strategies include: giving students time before and during activities to ask questions; making the learning interesting; giving students question words; modeling question asking; explicitly encouraging students to ask questions; refraining from judging students; asking students to record their questions; using a question board; encouraging students to elaborate on what they think; and, encouraging student autonomy.

While they did not use all of the strategies listed above, all three participants used similar strategies in order to encourage student inquisitiveness in the classroom. The participants in this study, no matter which course they taught, all found ways to make the learning interesting for their students. They did so by presenting the material in different formats (e.g. videos and images) and by finding ways to connect the learning to the real world. Additionally, the teachers were conscious about giving their students autonomy as much as possible. Instead of simply giving their students answers to problems, the teachers made sure to encourage the students to figure things out on their own, or in groups, while providing them with the appropriate supports. The teachers were also aware of the necessity of creating a classroom that set the expectation that questions should be asked, and they did so by modeling question asking, encouraging students to ask questions and refraining from judging their students' contributions. These actions also served to create classroom environments in which students felt safe to ask questions.

In addition to using similar strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness, there were times, when looking at the data for all three participants, where certain strategies looked similar and had areas of overlap. For example, when asking students to elaborate on their thoughts,

teachers also encouraged them to be autonomous. They did so because, in asking students to elaborate, they required students to reach an understanding alone, and used similar questioning techniques to help them reach this understanding. Similarly, when modeling question asking, teachers also mimicked the types of questions they asked when using the strategy of asking students to elaborate on their thoughts. When they modeled question asking, the teachers guided their students to ask questions that required further elaboration and subsequent questioning. These similarities are interesting to consider when examining the number of strategies that exist and the ways in which the strategies are similar and different.

The ways in which Lilian, Roger, and Noah used the strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness, and number of strategies that they used varied. Because these teachers teach across grade levels and are required to meet different standards in order to properly prepare their students, the strategies they used in the classroom differed. Nonetheless, it is important to note the ways in which their uses of the strategies were similar, and where they used the strategies in unique ways. All three cases provide useful insight into why teachers use different strategies to promote student inquisitiveness in their classrooms while also demonstrating what it looks like to use these strategies in different science classes.

While the teachers participating in this study used a variety of strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness, not all strategies as described in the existing literature were used. These included: giving students time before and during activities to ask questions, giving students question words, asking students to record their questions, and using a question board. These strategies are much more structure-based, when compared to the strategies that the teachers did use. More specifically, in order to use these strategies, the teachers may have needed to carve out time from their lessons and to do additional planning beforehand to determine, how, for example,

a question board could have been created and used in their classroom. As a result, the teachers might have felt like they needed additional time to incorporate these strategies, such as time to list questions or time to review how students can use question words to formulate their questions. As Snyder and Snyder (2008) noted, teachers greatly feel the impacts of time constraints, as they often have a lot of content to cover in a short amount of time. Therefore, the teachers participating in this study may have felt limited by time which prevented them from using strategies that they believed took away from teaching time. Furthermore, lack of professional development opportunities to become familiar with and develop these skills may be another reason why the teachers did not implement these strategies. As Supovitz and Turner (2000) found, when teachers have the opportunity to engage in more professional development, they are more likely to use inquiry-based teaching techniques while also encouraging an inquisitive classroom environment. It is interesting to consider why teachers did not use certain strategies and future research could examine more closely if not using these strategies was particular to the teachers and context examined in this study.

Major Findings

Findings from this study suggest many important considerations for teachers when determining ways to encourage student inquisitiveness in the classroom. While implementation of teaching strategies differed based on factors specific to the school context, such as location and size, this study highlights useful strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness in the science classroom. I present the major findings from this study below as suggested by the cases of Lilian, Roger, and Noah.

1. There are several factors that affect teachers' practices. These include: a mandated curriculum, the need to prepare students for the next level of education, and

- standardized exams. These factors affect teachers of upper levels, Grades 10 and 11, more so than teachers of lower levels, Grades 7 and 8.
- 2. There are many strategies that teachers use to encourage student inquisitiveness.

 These include:
 - a) Making the learning interesting by giving students different representation forms to explore science content and by making connections to the real-world.
 - b) Modeling questions that demonstrate to students how to ask questions related to the bigger picture and curiosity.
 - c) Explicitly encouraging students to ask questions, either by asking students if they have questions, or by making it a requirement to ask questions during class.
 - d) Refraining from judging students' contributions and receiving all student contributions with positivity.
 - e) Encouraging students to elaborate on their thinking.
 - f) Giving students autonomy in class, more specifically, alone or in groups, by asking them to complete project or solve problems without the help of the teacher.

While Roger and Noah used all of these strategies, Lilian used just four. One reason for this difference may be that Roger and Noah teach a variety of courses (including lower level and elective courses), whereas Lilian teaches only upper level courses. The pressures associated with teaching upper level courses may have prevented Lilian from using all of the strategies.

- 3. Strategies used by the participants of this study encourage students to ask questions, but the reasons *why* these strategies encourage inquisitiveness differ. Strategies may:
 - a) Encourage autonomy This occurs when using strategies such as: explicitly encouraging students to ask questions, encouraging students to elaborate on their thoughts, and giving students autonomy. For each of these strategies, the onus is on students to guide their own learning.
 - b) Create a safe environment This occurs when teachers refrain from judging students' contributions. In this strategy, all students' contributions are welcomed and valued.
 - c) Promote curiosity This occurs when using the strategy: making the learning interesting. This strategy gives students opportunities to personally connect or interact with the content in a variety of ways.
 - d) Give students tools to ask questions This occurs when teachers model question asking. The use of this strategy supports and develops students' question asking skills through various examples of questions given by the teacher.

Limitations and Areas for Further Study

Increasing student interest, engagement and motivation in science is of the utmost importance to prepare the next generation to work in STEM careers. One such way to do so is to increase student inquisitiveness in the science classroom. My study examines three teachers from one school. More specifically it looks at the factors that influence teachers' teaching practice as well as the strategies they use to encourage student inquisitiveness in their classrooms. While this study provides useful insights into the barriers that teachers face and how these barriers may

impact how they encourage student inquisitiveness in their classrooms, there are limitations in this study, based on the research design and time available to complete the study.

First, my sample size (n=3) was quite small and is limited to three teachers from one school. More participants, including ones from different schools, could have contributed, contested or added to the themes discovered during the data analysis. Secondly, the data was collected only during a three-week period. Had there been more time to complete this study, data could have been collected over a longer time span. Doing so could possibly add more information regarding which strategies teachers use and why they use them. Furthermore, data collection was done in the fall, at the beginning of the school year. Had the data collection been done perhaps in the spring semester, it would be interesting to see if strategies used by teachers would differ because of the impending ministry exams and final exams. Finally, a fourth limitation of this study is that it was done only from the teachers' perspectives, and it excluded the views and opinions of the students. Instead, students were observed from a distance and were not active participants in the study. As a result, it is difficult to know if the strategies that the teachers used resulted in students feeling like they had more opportunities to be inquisitive in the classroom. Had students been included in the study, direct quotes from their perspectives could have been used, in order to provide the reader with a sense of the types of questions students were asking, therefore contributing to the richness of the data. Additionally, in a future study, it would be interesting to consider the point of view of students regarding the effectiveness of these strategies. Do students realize that their teachers are using these strategies in order to encourage them to ask questions? Do students feel that they are able to ask more questions when their teachers use these strategies?

While the findings from this study shed light onto different ways that teachers can encourage student inquisitiveness in their classroom, there is, indeed, room for more research. Firstly, my study found which strategies were used by teachers who taught in Grades 7, 8, 10 and 11 science classrooms. Future research could be done to determine if these strategies work in other instances, including other science courses.

Secondly, my study found that teachers from an independent school in Canada believed that the mandated curriculum, preparation for the next level of education and preparation for ministry exams impacted their teaching. It would be interesting to consider if the factors influencing teachers' teaching practice would differ if participants had been selected from schools internationally. As schools around the world have different requirements for their students and teachers, the ways in which teachers teach may differ to help their students and themselves meet the requirements set for them. Additionally, different countries may focus more on certain reform pedagogies which may increase or diversify the strategies used to encourage student inquisitiveness.

Thirdly, future research could examine how schools' mandates affect teachers' teaching practice. For example, as described on the school's website, The Ocean School believes that it is essential for students to participate in active, hands-on learning that engages them, teaches them to work together and think critically, and allows them to express their creativity in order to become active and inquisitive world citizens. Perhaps this mandate and commitment to active, engaged learning impacts how teachers teach their classes. While this is plausible, future research could look specifically at schools' mandates to determine if and how they have any impact on teachers' teaching practice. Furthermore, future research could examine if schools provide any support to their teachers in meeting the goals specified by the schools' mandates.

Fourthly, future research could be done to determine if teachers would use all of the strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness if they were presented to the teachers before data collection. Teachers participating in this study were not aware of which strategies would be observed in their courses. They were asked to continue teaching as normal. Therefore, my study found which strategies teachers use in their day-to-day teaching to encourage student inquisitiveness. Yet, it would be interesting to explore whether teachers would use a wider variety of strategies if they are presented with a list of strategies before data collection takes place. Similarly, a future study could have a professional development focus. If teachers are presented strategies to encourage student inquisitiveness, and are given appropriate training on how to use these strategies, would they use a wider variety of strategies to encourage inquisitiveness in their day-to-day teaching?

Finally, my study did not examine how the strategies used to encourage student inquisitiveness impacted student achievement. It would be interesting to consider if using strategies to encourage inquisitiveness in classrooms, as well as inquiry-based instruction, could improve students' performance in school and on standardized exams, as well as their interest, motivation and curiosity in science class. While teachers participating in this study believed that standardized exams require a more traditional form of teaching, it is important to study how reform efforts in science pedagogy impacts students' learning and performance.

While there may be many possible areas for future research, this study has left me with many important take-away ideas as I move forward in my teaching career. I have been interested in student inquisitiveness and inquiry-based instruction since I began my teaching career in 2016. This study has provided me with strategies to use in my own classroom, in order to encourage my students to ask questions and be curious about topics being covered. Furthermore, this study

has given me a glimpse into how I can begin to incorporate inquiry-based instruction in my own classroom.

Indeed, it is crucial that all science educators find ways to encourage students to ask questions and be inquisitive. Educators should equip themselves with the tools necessary to increase inquisitiveness, and hopefully increase student interest in the sciences. While the current study gave me insight into what teachers can do to encourage student inquisitiveness in their classrooms, it is just one small step towards increasing student interest, motivation and engagement in science. Future research and work with teachers surrounding inquiry-based instruction should be done to provide teachers with the tools they need to most effectively implement this important reform effort in their classrooms. The call for inquiry-based instruction is one that is important and has the potential to transform the science education experience for our students. While motivating and preparing the future generation is no easy task, we, as science educators, can work together to bring about change.

References

- Aktamis, H., Hidge, E., & Ozden, B. (2016). Effects of the inquiry-based learning method on students' achievement, science process skills and attitudes towards science: A meta analysis science. *Journal of Turkish Science Education*, 13(4), 248-261. doi:10.129/tused.10183a
- Anderson, K. J. B. (2011). Science education and test-based accountability: Reviewing their relationship and exploring implications for future policy. *Science Education Policy*, 96(1), 104-129. doi:10.1002/sce.20464
- Barron, B., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2008). Teaching for meaningful learning. In L. Darling-Hammond, B. Barron, P. D. Pearson, A. H. Schoenfeld, E. K. Stage, T. D. Zimmerman, G. N. Cervetti, & J. Tilson (Eds.), *Powerful learning: What we know about teaching for understanding*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Bekkink, M. O., Donders, A. R., Kooloos, J. G., de Waal, R. M., & Ruiter, D. J. (2015). Challenging students to formulate written questions: A randomized controlled trial to assess learning effects. *BMC Medical Education*, 15(1), 1-6.
- Biddulph, F., & Osborne, R. (1982). Some issues relating to children's questions and explanations. Waikato, New Zealand: University of Waikato.
- Biddulph, F., Osborne, R., & Freyberg, P. (1983). Investigating learning in science at the primary school level. *Research in Science Education*, 13(1), 223-232.
- Biddulph, F., Symington, D., & Osborne, R. (1986). The place of children's questions in primary science education. *Research in Science and Technological Education*, 4(1), 77-88. doi:10.1080/0263514860040108
- Boyd, B. T. (2010). Effects of state tests on classroom test items in mathematics. *School Science and Mathematics*, 108(6), 251-262. doi:10.1111/j.1949-8594.2008.tb17835.x
- Brickhouse, N. W. (1990). Teachers' beliefs about the nature of science and their relationship to classroom practice. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(3), 53–62.
- Brown, P. L., Abell, S. K., & Demir, A. (2006). College science teachers' views of classroom inquiry. *Science Education*, 90(5), 784-802. doi:10.1002/sce.20151
- Cano, F., Garcia, A., Berben, A. B. G., & Justicia, F. (2014). Science learning: A path analysis of its links with reading comprehension, question-asking in class and science achievement *International Journal of Science Education*, 36(10), 1710-1732. doi:10.1080/09500693.2013.876678
- Chin, C. (2002). Student-generated questions: Encouraging inquisitive minds in learning science. *Teaching and Learning*, *23*(1), 59-67. Retrieved from https://repository.nie.edu.sg/bitstream/10497/292/1/TL-23-1-59.pdf

- Chin, C. (2004). Students' questions: Fostering a culture of inquisitiveness in science classrooms *School Science Review*, 86(314), 107-112.
- Chin, C., & Brown, D. E. (2002). Student-generated questions: A meaningful aspect of learning in science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 24(5), 521-549. doi:10.1080/09500690110095249
- Chin, C., & Kayalvizhi, G. (2007). What do pupils think of open science investigations? A study of Singaporean primary 6 pupils. *Educational Research*, 47(1), 107-126. doi:10.1080/0013188042000337596
- Chinn, C. A., & Malhotra, B. A. (2002). Epistemologically authentic inquiry in schools: A theoretical framework for evaluating inquiry tasks. *Science Education*, 86(2), 175-218.
- Chin, C., & Osborne, J. (2008). Students' questions: a potential resource for teaching and learning science. *Studies in Science Education*, 44(1), 1-39. doi:10.1080/03057260701828101
- Chin, C., & Osborne, J. (2010). Supporting argumentation through strudents' questions: Case studies in science classrooms. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 19(2), 230-284. doi:10.1080/10508400903530036
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Educational research: Planning, conducting and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (4 ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education Inc.
- Cuccio-Schirripa, S., & Steiner, H. E. (2000). Enhancement and analysis of science question level for middle school students. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching, 37*, 210-224. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2736(200002)37:2<210::AID-TEA7>3.0.CO;2-I
- Dunlop, L., Compton, K., Clarke, L., & McKelvey-Martin, V. (2013). Child-led enquiry in primary science. *International Journal of Primary, Elementary and Early Years Education*, 43(5), 462-481. doi:10.1080/03004279.2013.822013
- Engel, S., & Randall, K. (2009). How teachers respond to children's inquiry. *American Educational Research Journal*, 46(1), 183-202. doi:10.3102/0002831208323274
- Eshach, H., Dor-Ziderman, Y., & Yefroimsky, Y. (2013). Question asking in the science classroom: Teacher attitudes and practices. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 23(1), 67-81. doi:10.1007/s10956-013-9451-y
- Fitzgerald, M., Danaia, L., & McKinnon, D.H. (2017). Barriers inhibiting inquiry-based science teaching and potential solutions: Perceptions of positively inclined early adopters. *Research in Science Education*, 1-24. doi: 10.1007/s11165-017-9623-5
- Flick, U. (2004). Triangulation in qualitative research. In U. Flick, E. v. Kardoff, & I. Steinke (Eds.), *A Companion to Qualitative Research* (pp. 178-184). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

- Fowler, S. R. (2012). Putting students on the hot seat to stimulate interest in biology non-science majors. *The American Biology Teacher*, 74(6), 410-412. doi: 10.1525/abt.2012.74.6.9
- Franke, M. L., Fennema, E., & Carpenter, T. (1997). Teachers creating change: Examining evolving beliefs and classroom practice. *Mathematics Teachers in Transition*, 255-282.
- Franke, M. L., Webb, N. M., Chan, A. G., Ing, M., Freund, D., & Battey, D. (2009). Teacher questioning to elicit students' mathematical thinking in elementary school classrooms. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 60(4), 380-392.
- Galton, M., Hargreaves, L., & Pell, T. (2009). Group work and whole-class teaching with 11- to 14-year-olds compared. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 39(1), 119-140. doi:10.1080/03057640802701994
- George, R. (2006). A cross-domain analysis of change in students' attitudes toward science and attitudes about the utility of science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 28(6), 571-589. doi:10.1080/09500690500338755
- Gilliam, K. C., Baker, M., Rayfield, J., Ritz, R., & Cummins, R. G. (2018). Effects of question difficulty and post-question wait-time on cognitive engagement: A psychophysiological analysis. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 59(4), 286-300. doi:10.5032/jae.2018.04286
- Good, T. L., Slavings, R. L., Hobson Harel, K., & Emerson, H. (1987). Student passivity: A study of question asking in K-12 classrooms. *Sociology of Education*, 60(3), 181-199. doi:10.2307/2112275
- Exams and ministerial examinations | Ministère de l'Éducation et de l'Enseignement supérieur. (2020). Retrieved 10 April 2020, from http://www.education.gouv.qc.ca/en/parents-and guardians/exams/
- Graesser, A. C., Lu, S. L., Olde, B. A., Cooper-Pye, E., & Whitten, S. (2005). Question asking and eye tracking during cognitive disequilibrium: comprehending illustrated texts on devices when the devices break down. *Memory & Cognition*, 33, 1235-1247. doi:10.3758/BF03193225
- Hamachek, D. (1999). Effective teachers: What they do, how they do it and the importance of self knowledge. In R. P. Lipka & T. M. Brinthaupt (Eds.), *The Role of Self in Teacher Development* (pp. 1-240). New York: SUNY Press.
- Hampden-Thompson, G., & Bennett, J. (2013). Science teaching and learning activities and students' engagement in science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35(8), 1325-1343. doi: 10.1080/09500693.2011.608093
- Harmer, A. & Cates, W.M. (2008). Designing for Learner Engagement in Middle School Science. *Computers in the Schools*, 24(1-2), 105-124.

- Hassan, G. (2008). Attitudes toward science among Australian tertiary and secondary school students. *Research in Science and Technological Education*, 26(2), 129-147. doi:10.1080/02635140802034762
- Herranen, J., & Aksela, M. (2019). Student-question-based inquiry in science education. *Studies in Science Education*, 55(1), 1-36. doi:10.1080/03057267.2019.1658059
- Hlas, A. C., & Hlas, C. S. (2012). A review of high-leverage teaching practices: Making connections between mathematics and foreign languages. *Foreign Language Annals*, 45(1), 76-97. doi:10.1111/j.1944-9720.2012.01180.x
- Hofstein, A., & Lunetta, V. N. (2003). The laboratory in science education: Foundations for the twenty-first century. *Science Education*, 88(1), 28-54. doi:10.1002/sce.10106
- Hofstein, A., Navon, O., Kipnis, M., & Mamlok-Naaman, R. (2005). Developing students' ability to ask more and better questions resulting from inquiry-type chemistry laboratories. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 42(7), 791-806. doi:10.1002/tea.20072
- Hofstein, A., Shore, R., & Kipnis, N. (2004). Providing high school students with opportunities to develop learning skills in an inquiry-type laboratory. *International Journal of Science Education*, 26(1), 47-62. doi:10.1080/0950069032000070342
- Huang, X., Lederman, N. G., & Cai, C. (2017). Improving Chinese junior high school students' ability to ask critical questions. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *54*(8), 963-987. doi: 10.1002/tea.21390
- Hurley, N. (2004). Once bitten, twice shy: teachers' attitudes towards educational change in Canada. In P. Poppleton & J. Williamson (Eds.), *New realities of secondary teachers' work lives*. Oxford: Symposium.
- Ingram, J., & Elliott, V. (2015). A critical analysis of the role of wait time in classroom interactions and the effects on student and teacher interactional behaviours. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 46(1), 37-53. doi:10.1080/0305764X.2015.1009365
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2013). *Inquiry-based learning*.
- Jelly, S. (1985). Helping children raise questions and answering them. *Primary Science: Taking the Plunge*, 47-57.
- Jocz, J.A., Zhai, J., & Tan, A.L. (2014). Inquiry learning in the Singaporean context: Factors affecting student interest in school science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 36(15), 2596-2618. doi:10.1080/09500693.2014.908327
- King, A. (1991). Improving lecture comprehension: Effects of a metacognitive strategy. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, *5*, 331-346. doi:10.1002/acp.2350050404

- Kim, H. (2016). Inquiry-based science and technology enrichment program for middle schoolaged female students. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 25(2), 174-186. doi:10.1007/s10956-015-9584-2
- Krajcik, J. S., & Sutherland, L. M. (2010). Supporting students in developing literacy in science. *Science*, 328(5977), 456-459. doi:10.1126/science.1182593
- Laal, M., & Ghodsi, S. M. (2012). Benefits of collaborative learning. *Procedia- Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 31, 486-490. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.12.091
- Marbach-Ad, G., & Soklove, P. G. (2000a). Can undergraduate biology students learn to ask higher level questions? *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *37*(8), 854-870. doi:10.1002/1098-2736(200010)37:8<854::AID-TEA6>3.0.CO;2-5
- Maskill, R., & Pedrosa de Jesus, H. (1997). Pupils' questions, alternative frameworks and the design of science teaching. *International Journal of Science Education*, 19(7), 781-799. doi:10.1080/0950069970190704
- McNeill, K. L., Pimentel, D. S., & Strauss, E. G. (2013). The impact of high school science teachers' beliefs, curricular enactments and experience on student learning during an inquiry-based urban ecology curriculum. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35(15), 2608-2644. doi:10.1080/09500693.2011.618193
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). *Qualitative research and case study applications in education* (2 ed.). San Francisco, CA: Joey-Bass Publishers.
- Michaels, S., O'Connor, C., & Resnick, L. (2008). Deliberative discourse idealized and realized: Accountable talk in the classroom and in civic life. *Studies in Philosophy and Education*, 27(4), 283-297.
- Minner, D. D., Levy, A. J., & Century, J. (2010). Inquiry-based science instruction- What is it and does it matter? Results from a research synthesis years 1984 to 2002. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(4), 474-496.
- Nathan, M. J., & Knuth, E. J. (2003). A study of whole classroom mathematical discourse and teacher change. *Cognition and Instruction*, 21(2), 175-207.
- National Research Council. (2012). A framework for K-12 science education: Practices, crosscutting concepts, and core ideas. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2013). Inquiry based learning. *Capacity Building Series*, 1-8. Ontario.
- Osborn, M., McNess, E., Broadfoot, P., Pollard, A., & Triggs, P. (2000). What teachers do: Changing policy and practice in primary education. New York, NY: Continuum.

- Reeve, J., & Jang, H. (2006). What teachers say and do to support students' autonomy during a learning activity. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(1), 209-218. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.98.1.209
- Roehrig, G., & Luft, J. (2004). Constraints experienced by beginning secondary science teachers in implementing scientific inquiry lessons. *International Journal of Science Education*, 26(1), 3-24. doi: 10.1080/0950069022000070261
- Rogat, T. K., Witham, S. A., & Chinn, C. (2014). Teachers' autonomy-relevant practices within an inquiry-based science curricular context: Extending the range of academically significant autonomy-supportive practices. *Teachers College Record*, 116, 1-46.
- Rop, C. (2002). The meaning of student inquiry questions: a teacher's beliefs and responses. *International Journal of Science Education*, 24(7), 717-736. doi:10.1080/09500690110095294
- Rosenshine, B., Meister, C., & Chapman, S. (1996). Teaching students to generate questions: A review of the intervention studies. *Review of Educational Research*, 66(2), 181-221. doi:10.3102/00346543066002181
- Sadler, P. M., & Tai, R. H. (2001). Success in introductory college physics: The role of high school preparation. *Science Education*, 85(2), 111-136. doi:10.1002/1098-237X(200103)85:2<111::AID-SCE20>3.0.CO;2-O
- Schramm, W. (1971). *Notes on case studies of instructional media projects*. Stanford University, C.A.
- Schutte, N. S., & Malouff, J. M. (2019). Increasing curiosity through autonomy of choice. *Motivation and Emotion*, 43, 563-570. doi:10.1007/s11031-019-09758-w
- Schwab, J. J., & Brandwein, P. F. (1966). The teaching of science as enquiry. In J. J. Schwab & P. F. Brandwein (Eds.), *The teaching of science* (pp. 3-103). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Schwartz, M. S., Sadler, P. M., Sonnert, G., & Tai, R. H. (2008). Depth versus breadth: How content coverage in high school science courses relates to later success in college science coursework. *Science Education*, *93*, 798-826. doi:10.1002/sce.20328
- Schweisfurth, M. (2006). Education for global citizenship: teacher agency and curricular structure in Ontario schools. *Global Citizenship Education*, 58(1), 41-50. doi:10.1080/00131910500352648
- Smith, M. K., Wood, W. B., Adams, W. K., Wieman, C., Knight, J. K., Guild, N., & Su, T. T. (2009). Why peer discussion improves student performance on in-class concept questions. *Science*, 323(5910), 122-124. doi:10.1126/science.1165919
- Snyder, L. G., & Snyder, M. J. (2008). Teaching critical thinking and problem solving skills. *The Delta Pi Epsilon Journal*, *L*(2), 90-99.

- Spires, H., Kerkhoff, S., & Graham, A. (2016). Disciplinary literacy and inquiry: Teaching for deeper content learning. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 60(2), 151-161. doi:10.1002/jaal.577
- Stefanou, C. R., Perencevich, K. C., DiCintio, M., & Turner, J. C. (2004). Supporting autonomy in the classroom: Ways teachers encourage student decision making and ownership. *Educational Psychologist*, 39(2), 97-110.
- Stroupe, D. (2014). Examining classroom science practice communities: How teachers and students negotiate epistemic agency and learn science-as-practice. *Science Studies and Science Education*, *98*(3), 487-516. doi:10.1002/sce.21112
- Supovitz, J. A., & Turner, H. M. (2000). The effects of professional development on science teaching practices and classroom culture. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37(9), 963-980. doi:10.1002/1098-2736(200011)37:9<963::AID-TEA6>3.0.CO;2-0
- Symington, D., & Osborne, R. (1985). Toward professional development in science education for the primary school teacher. *The European Journal of Science Education*, 7(1), 19-28. doi:10.1080/0140528850070102
- Tan, S. C., & Seah, L. H. (2011). Exploring relationship between students' questioning behaviors and inquiry tasks in an online forum through analysis of ideational function of questions. *Computers and Education*, 57(2), 1675-1685. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2011.03.007
- Tanner, K. D. (2017). Structure matters: Twenty-one teaching strategies to promote student engagement and cultivate classroom equity. *CBE-Life Sciences Education*, 12(3), 322-331. doi:10.1187/cbe.13-06-0115
- Titsworth, B. S., & Kiewra, K. A. (2004). Spoken organizational lecture cues and student notetaking as facilitators of student learning. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 29(4), 447-461. doi:10.1016/j.cedpsych.2003.12.001
- Tseng, C., Chen, S. B., & Chang, W. H. (2015). Generating testable questions in the science classroom: The BDC model. *The American Biology Teacher*, 77(3), 166-169. doi:10.1525/abt.2015.77.3.3
- Tuan, H., Chin, C., Tsai, C., & Cheng, S. (2005). Investigating the effectiveness of inquiry instruction on the motivation of different learning styles students. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, *3*(4), 541-566. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10763-004-6827-8
- Turner, C. (2014). US tests teens a lot, but worldwide, exam stakes are higher. *NPR*. Retrieved from http://www.npr.org/2014/04/30/308057862/us-tests-teens-a-lot-but-worldwide-exam-stakes-are-higher
- Van Zhee, E. H., Iwasyk, M., Kurose, A., Simpson, D., & Wild, J. (2000). Student and teacher questioning during conversations about science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 38(2), 159-190.

- Volante, L., & Jaafar, S. B. (2008). Educational assessment in Canada. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 15*(2), 201-210. doi:10.1080/09695940802164226
- Vorholzer, A., & von Aufschnaiter, C. (2018). Guidance in inquiry-based instruction- an attempt to disentangle a manifold construct. *International Journal of Science Education*, 41(11), 1562-1577. doi:10.1080/09500693.2019.1616124
- Warren, B., Ballenger, C., Ogonowski, M., Rosebery, A. S., & Hudicourt-Barnes, J. (2001). Rethinking diversity in learning science: The logic of everyday sense-making. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 38(5), 529-552.
- Wasik, B. A., & Hindman, A. H. (2018). Why Wait? The importance of wait time in developing young students' language and vocabulary skills. *The Reading Teacher*, 72(3), 369-378. doi:10.1002/trtr.1730
- Watson, L. (2015). What is inquisitiveness. *American Philosophical Quarterly*, *52*(3), 273-287. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/24475463
- Webb, N. M., & Palinscsar, A. S. (1996). Group processes in the classroom. In D. C. Berliner & R. C. Calfee (Eds.), *Handbook of educational psychology* (pp. 841-873). Macmillan Library Reference USA: Prentice Hall International.
- Wells, K. J. (2017). Noticing Students' Conversations and Gestures During Group Problem-Solving in Mathematics. In E. O. Schack, M. H. Fisher, & J. A. Wilhelm (Eds.), *Teacher Noticing: Bridging and Broadening Perspectives, Contexts, and Frameworks* (pp. 183-204). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- What is a CEGEP? (2020). Retrieved from https://fedecegeps.ca/en/what-is-a-cegep/
- Why is STEM education so important? (2016). Retrieved from https://www.engineeringforkids.com/about/news/2016/february/why-is-stem-education-so-important-/
- Windschitl, M., Thompson, J., Braaten, M., & Stroupe, D. (2012). Proposing a core set of instructional practices and tools for teachers of science. *Science Education*, 96(5), 878-903.
- Woods-McConney, A., Wosnitza, M., & Sturrock, K. (2016). Inquiry and groups: Student interactions in cooperative inquiry-based science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 38(5), 842-860.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.

Appendix A: Observation Tool

Action	Does teacher do it? # of times in lesson	Notes/ observations (word for word, what did the teacher say?)
Time before activity begins to have students write questions (how much time?)		
Time during activity to write questions (how much time?)		
Giving students interesting material that prompt them to ask questions		
Giving students a graph or an image on which to base questions		
Letting students spend time observing something in an unstructured way (how much time?)		
Asking students to begin to question using words such as: what if; why does; why are; how does		
Teacher models question asking		
Praise given to those who ask questions (no shutting them down, "delay judgement-neutral rather than evaluative manner")		
Ask students to record questions in a diary, journal, notebook or electronic note-taking system		
Use of a question board as a starting point to scientific investigations		
Teacher explicitly encourages student to ask questions		
Teacher encourages students to elaborate on what they think		

Other observations: